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Characteristics of GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”)

GEM has been positioned as a market designed to accommodate small and mid-sized companies to which a high investment risk may
be attached than other companies listed on the Exchange. Prospective investors should be aware of the potential risks of investing in
such companies and should make the decision to invest only after due and careful consideration.

Given that the companies listed on GEM are generally small and mid-sized companies, there is a risk that securities traded on GEM may

be more susceptible to high market volatility than securities traded on the Main Board and no assurance is given that there will be a
liquid market in the securities traded on GEM.

BERBEXSZMARLE ([BXFT]) GEMHEE

GEMH&YELL - )“J?)%EP/J\?‘AQﬂTE{ —fA LTV - WhE AR EREMETR ETHARRERSKRERR - BERENALET#HR
ENZEARREBERR  YREBEERBFHNEBEITIELRERE -

HRGEMEMHAREERTNEAF AGEMEEMNESAEERETREBENIEFAXBANT SRS AR - RSEEREEGEME
ENESFS A mEaBmmS o



CORPORATE STRUCTURE
ACED

CORPORATE REVIEW
A

13

26

39

Chairman’s Statement
FERE

Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ExkalEEERE

Management Discussion and Analysis
ERE R RO

Corporate Governance Report

RERWE

Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RS @ REARE

Directors’ Report
EExgWmE

CONTENTS
B &k

FINANCIAL REPORT
M E

49

56

57

58

59

61

138

Independent Auditor’s Report
BB RS

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and
Other Comprehensive Income
rEBREAEMEERER

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

AR R

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
FaEmEER

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
SGEBERER

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

A MFRRME

Five Year Summary
hFEHE

CORPORATE INFORMATION
EEER

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 %% @
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Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board (“the board”) of directors (the “directors”),
| hereby present the annual results for ITE (Holdings) Limited (the
“company”) and its subsidiaries (together, “ITE” or the “group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2020.

Mission

The mission of the group is to become the leading provider of smartcard,
radio frequency identification (“RFID"), biometrics product and solution
and professional services in the world. ITE has been pioneering and has
achieved outstanding performance in the areas of smartcard solutions
and integration services in the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
("Hong Kong” or “HKSAR"), the Macao Special Administrative Region
("Macao”) and the People’s Republic of China (“PRC"). With profound
expertise, strong research and development (“R&D") capability, proven
track record and excellent reputation, the group has established a leading
profile in our industry and has adopted a proactive approach to introduce
innovative and customized smartcard, RFID and biometrics applications
to our clients. Leveraging on our extensive industry experience and
intellectual assets, ITE will continue to develop innovative products and
multi-applications solutions for clients coming from different industries
and to expand our businesses to more overseas countries.

Appreciation
I ' would like to take this opportunity to express my deepest thanks to my

directors, management and staff for their dedication and hard work, and
shareholders, financiers and business partners for their continued support.

Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Chairman

Hong Kong, 12 June 2020
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

ESNGREEEBE

Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, aged 56, is an Executive Director, Chief
Executive Officer and one of the founders of the group. He is responsible
for overall strategic planning and management of the group. With over
33 years of experience in the executive management, he was engaged
in China trade before founding the group. Mr. Lau graduated from The
University of Hong Kong with a first class honours Degree of Bachelor
of Science in Mechanical Engineering. He holds a number of invention
patents and has led many research and development projects under the
funding schemes of the Innovation Technology Commission of Hong Kong
Government. He is the industrial advisors to the Engineering Departments
of The City University of Hong Kong and The University of Hong Kong.

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung, aged 57, is an Executive Director and one of
the founders of the group. He is responsible for technical management
and research and development (R&D). With 36 years of experience in R&D
and production management, Mr. Cheng won the awards of the Hong
Kong Awards for Industry for seven times (two Machinery and Equipment
Design in 2005 and 2007, one Consumer Product Design in each of 1993,
2000 and 2001 and two Designs in 1997). He holds a Higher Diploma in
Electronics Engineering from the Hong Kong Polytechnic University.

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah, aged 51, is an Executive Director of the group. He
is responsible for financial management, accounting and corporate
development. Mr. Liu graduated from The London School of Economics
and Political Science of the University of London with a Bachelor of
Science degree, first class honours in Management Sciences. He is an
associate member of each of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales (“ICAEW") and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“HKICPA"). Mr. Liu is the younger brother of Mr. Lau
Hon Kwong, Vincent.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, aged 54, is the Managing Director of
Anthony Kam & Associates Limited, Certified Public Accountants. Mr.
Kam has been awarded an Honorary Fellowship from the University of
Wolverhampton, the United Kingdom. He is a Certified Public Accountant/
Chartered Accountant qualified in the Mainland China, Hong Kong
China and the United Kingdom. Mr. Kam has over 31 years’ experience
in auditing, accounting and tax matters, both in private and public
companies.

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew, 0.B.E. (Hon), JP, aged 76, holds a Bachelor
of Arts (Honours) degree in literature from The University of Hong Kong
and a Master of Public Administration degree from the Syracuse University,
USA. He was formerly a member of the Legislative Council from 1985 to
2004 and was also the President of the Legislative Council from 1995 to
1997. Mr. Wong had been lecturing at the Chinese University of Hong
Kong since 1970 and is now retired.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BEENWE TN

Management of the group has continued to utilise our professional and
committed workforce and financial resources to achieve maximum return
to our shareholders.

Business Review

We are in times of sadness and difficulty. Our founding member Dr. Lee
Peng Fei, Allen (“Dr. Lee"”), an independent non-executive director of the
company, chairman of the audit committee, remuneration committee and
nomination committee of the company, passed away on 15 May 2020.
It is our deepest sorrow and regret for Dr. Lee's passing and losing a
valuable member of the board. Dr. Lee was a man of highest integrity and
honesty, he was sincere, farsighted and a good example for people. He
has made total commitment to the establishment of core values and good
governance of the company since his joining us in 2000. We express our
deepest gratitude for the efforts and contribution made by Dr. Lee to the
company, and we shall miss him and his lifelong contribution to society!

The COVID-19 pandemic has been causing fatal damages to Hong Kong
and the world. To support the fight against it and better protect the lives
of people of Hong Kong, we are developing an advanced technological
solution for the detection/diagnosis/surveillance of COVID-19 and the
reduction of the risk of its infection and spread in our communities. We
aim to adopt and integrate various information and communication
technologies, sensors and wireless technologies, informatics software
development and big data analytics, together with our R&D outcome
product, mobilized high capacity lithium battery system, which can provide
zero local emission clean power for high temperature steam cleansing
and dry ice blasting for public facilities so as to enhance the public health
mechanism.

During the year, we were awarded with a number of new contracts and
orders by clients. The orders covered the supply of hardware and software
and the provision of professional services to build up or enhance their
application systems.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

We continued to deliver the self-service payment kiosks for public hospitals
and clinics of the Hospital Authority. The kiosks were launched and put
into usage to effectively enhance the public service. We also provided
professional services for the Leisure and Cultural Services Department to
launch the city’s third self-service library station at the Tai Wai MTR Station
in February 2020, offering users round-the-clock public library services
with enhanced convenience and accessibility. We were very pleased to
complete the delivery of this smartcity system and applications and serve
the general public.

We successfully designed, built and implemented a One-Megawatt
hour lithium battery system to support the off-grid energy consumption
of nearly 10,000 sets of on-street parking meters of the Transport
Department under the Contract for Management, Operation and
Maintenance of existing Parking Meter System. By end of March 2020, the
adoption of rechargeable lithium battery packs saved the landfill disposal
of more than 200,000 pieces of D-size alkaline battery cell. We estimate
that total 400,000 pieces of D-size alkaline battery cell can be saved every
year. The servicing mileages of environmental vehicle fleet established
for the contract exceeded 190,000 km by end of March 2020. The
environment and people of Hong Kong have been benefit through the
zero local emission of air pollutants and greenhouse gases, sustainability
is one of ITE's core values, we shall strive for a better Hong Kong and a
better world.

Future Prospect

Since our establishment, we have been focusing on our core business and
technologies, we continue to devote our efforts and resources for the long
term growth of the group building on our Innovation, Technology and
Excellency; three words which best explain ITE.

All members performed professionally under the corporate vision,
mission and core values. Every year, new intellectual assets are created,
accumulated and protected, and the range of professional services
continues to expand to meet the fast growing needs of the changing
world. We have firmly maintained our position as the pure rider to provide

innovative solutions to our clients.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB wm M AT

Despite that a trade deal was signed between China and the United States
of America, the Sino-US conflicts have not ended, but getting worse
rather. Considering the political instability in Hong Kong and the impact of
COVID-19 pandemic, the directors are not optimistic towards the outlook.
It is unknown to us when and how the recovery will take place. While
maintaining our spirits, commitments and efforts, the directors shall take
very prudent measures in operating and developing our businesses.

Key Risks and Uncertainties

The group’s insurance may be insufficient to cover all losses associated
with its business operations. The group maintains insurance policies
against loss or damage to its office and business interruption, public
liability and employees’ compensation. The insurance coverage may be
insufficient to cover all the risks associated with the group’s business
and operations in the future. In the case of an uninsured loss or a loss in
excess of insured limit, including those caused by natural disasters and
other events beyond the group’s control, the group may be required to
pay for losses, damages and liabilities out of its own funds, which could
materially and adversely affect its business, financial condition and results
of operations. Even if the insurance coverage is adequate to cover its
direct losses, the group may need to be responsible for the indirect losses.
Furthermore, claim records of the group may affect the premiums which
insurance companies charge in the future.

Despite of the above, the group considers that the current insurance
coverage is sufficient for its existing operation scale and the group will

review its insurance policies from time to time.
Compliance with Laws and Regulations

As far as the board of directors of the company and management are
aware, the group has complied in material respects with the relevant
laws and regulations that have a significant impact on the business and
operation of the group. During the year, there was no material breach of
or non-compliance with the applicable laws and regulations by the group.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Performance

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the group recorded a revenue of
approximately HK$44 million, representing an increase of 79% over last
year. Profits for the year attributable to owners of the company for the
year ended 31 March 2020 was approximately HK$1 million as compared
to that of loss attributable to owners of the company of approximately
HK$3.5 million for last year.

Segmental Information

During the year, the group recorded an increase in revenue for about 79%
when compared with last year and the group’s gross profit margin slightly
decreased from 30% to 29%.

The service revenue generated from core business, i.e. the provision of
the smartcard systems, RFID and information technology (“IT") services
and related sales, was HK$35,204,827 (2019: HK$14,465,650) which
significantly increased by 143%. On the other hand, the income from
maintenance services decreased by 11% to HK$9,140,379 (2019:
HK$10,325,713).

The group’s administrative expenses increased by 14% to HK$11,917,737
(2019: HK$10,421,775). Included in administrative expenses, the related
share-based payment expense amounted to HK$Nil (2019: HK$567,000)
was fully recognized during the year. In addition, the research and
development cost and associated sponsorship was significant increased by
54% to HK$2,648,888 (2019: HK$1,718,897). Expenditure on research
and development activities was totally expensed in profit or loss during
the year.

During the year, the group’s finance cost was HK$858,465 (2019:
HK$510,059) which related to interest on loans from related parties and
finance charges on lease liabilities.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB wm M AT

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The group generally financed its operations with its internally generated
cash flows and loans from related parties. At 31 March 2020, the group
have loans from related parties amounted to HK$8,800,000 (2019:
HK$11,600,000) and these loans bear interest at fixed rate of 5% (2019:
8.8%) per annum, are unsecured and repayable on demand. At 31 March
2020, the current ratio of the group was 1.59 (2019: 1.60) while the
liquidity ratio was 1.49 (2019: 1.52).

The group continues to adopt a conservative approach in its treasury
policy. The group strives to reduce exposure to credit risk by performing
ongoing credit evaluations of the financial condition of its customers.
Besides, the group’s liquidity and financing arrangements are also reviewed
regularly.

Taking into consideration the stringent cost control and the existing
financial resources available to the group, it is believed that the group
should have adequate financial resources to meet its operation,

development requirements and investments in the future.
Gearing Ratio

At 31 March 2020, the gearing ratio of the group, which is calculated as
the ratio of total borrowings to total equity, was 0.68 (2019: 0.97).

Treasury Policy

The group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the period under review. The group strives to reduce
exposure to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity
risk, the board closely monitors the group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the group’s assets, liabilities and other

commitments can meet its funding requirements from time to time.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Significant Investments
The group had no significant investments during the year under review.

Material Acquisitions or Disposals of Subsidiaries
and Affiliated Companies

During the year under review, the group had no acquisitions and disposals
of subsidiaries and affiliated companies.

Employment Information

The group recognises that its staff is one of the group’s most important
assets. Aiming at providing competitive salary packages, the group
adjusts employees’ salary level in close association with the performance,
qualifications and experience of individual staff as well as labour market
conditions. In addition to the regular remuneration, discretionary bonus
and share options may be awarded to eligible employees with reference

to individual performance and the group’s business performance.

The group enjoys good relations with its staff and has not experienced any
disruption of operations due to major labour disputes. In addition to the
remuneration as mentioned above, the group also provides fringe benefits
which comply with the relevant laws and regulations of the PRC and Hong
Kong including contributions to the Social Security Scheme in the PRC and
the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme in Hong Kong. Besides, the group
also provides on-going training programmes for its employees to keep
them abreast of the latest market trends and new technologies.

At 31 March 2020, the group had 90 (2019: 114) full-time employees, of
which 90 (2019: 112) are based in Hong Kong and the rest are in Macao.
Staff costs, including directors’ remuneration, was approximately HK$26
million (2019: HK$17 million) for the year ended 31 March 2020.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BB wm M AT

Charges on Group Assets

At 31 March 2020, US$1,476,749 (equivalent to HK$11,518,641) (2019:
HK$11,540,203) time deposit was pledged to a bank to secure certain
banking facilities of a wholly-owned subsidiary of the company.

Future Plans for Material Investments

The group did not have any plans for material investment and acquisition

of material capital assets as at 31 March 2020.

Exposure to Fluctuations in Exchange Rates and
Related Hedges

The group’s assets, liabilities, revenues and expenses are mainly
denominated in HK$, United States dollars (“US$"), Japanese Yen (“JPY"),
Macao Patacas (“MOP”) and Renminbi (“RMB”). The exchange rates
between HK$, US$, JPY, MOP and RMB have been very steady for the past
few years. During the year, the group generally used the receipts from
customers to pay its suppliers and meet its capital requirements. They are
denominated in the local currency of the place in which the subsidiaries
operate. The group does not currently engage in hedging to manage
possible exchange rate risk as the group considers the cost associated
with such hedging arrangements would exceed the benefits. However,
management will continue to monitor the possible exposure to exchange
rate risk and will take such measures as it deems prudent.

Contingent Liability

At 31 March 2020, the company did not have any contingent liability.
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The company is firmly committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
emphasising transparency, independence, accountability, responsibility and
fairness. The board ensures that effective self-requlatory practices exist to
protect the interests of the shareholders of the company.

The company has applied the principles and complied with all the code
“Code”)
contained in Appendix 15 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities
on the GEM of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the "GEM
Listing Rules”) throughout the year ended 31 March 2020, save for the

provisions as set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the

deviations discussed below.

Under the code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman and
chief executive officer should be separated and should not be performed
by the same individual. The division of responsibilities between the
chairman and chief executive officer should be clearly established and set
out in writing.

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent is both the chairman and chief executive
officer of the company who is responsible for managing the board and
the group’s business. Mr. Lau has been both chairman and chief executive
officer of the company since its incorporation. The board considers that,
with the present board structure and scope of business of the group,
there is no imminent need to separate the roles into two individuals as
Mr. Lau is perfectly capable of distinguishing the priority of these roles
in which he has been acting. However, the board will continue to review
the effectiveness of the group’s corporate governance structure to assess
whether the separation of the positions of chairman and chief executive
officer is necessary.

Under the code provision A.4.1 stipulates that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-election. However,
the non-executive directors do not have a specific term of appointment,
but are subject to rotation in accordance with the articles of association
of the company. As such, the company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to serve the purpose of the code provision A.4.1 of the
Code.
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The company has not arranged any insurance coverage for the directors’
liabilities in respect of any potential legal actions against the directors.
Given the nature of the company’s business, directors believe that the
occurring of legal actions against the directors is very slight, and the
company still can achieve excellent corporate government through various
management and monitoring mechanism so as to reduce such risks, such
as periodic review on the effectiveness of internal control system, clear
division of duties and providing training for staffs and the management.
The board will review, on a regular basis, the necessity to arrange
insurance cover for potential legal actions against the directors.

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard of dealings as set out in Rules 5.48 to 5.67 of the GEM Listing
Rules throughout the year ended 31 March 2020. Having made specific
enquiry of all directors, the directors have complied with such code of
conduct and the required standard of dealings throughout the year ended
31 March 2020.

Board of Directors
Board Composition

The board which currently comprises three executive directors and
two independent non-executive directors, is responsible for the overall
strategic planning and business development of the group. Details of
the directors are set in the section “Biographical Details of Directors and
Senior Management” of this report. All directors give sufficient time and
attention to the affairs of the group. To the best knowledge of the board,
there is no financial, business and family relationship among the members
of the board except that Mr. Liu Hoi Wah is the younger brother of Mr.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent.

The board should regularly review the contribution required from a
director to perform his responsibilities to the company, and whether the
director is spending sufficient time performing them.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

The independent non-executive director, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony,
has been serving the board as independent non-executive director for
more than nine years and has consistently demonstrated his willingness
to exercise independent judgments and provide objective challenges to
management. He has actively participated in board meetings and board
committee meetings held during the year and has shown himself able to
give constructive and independent advice to the board over significant
issues. Therefore, the board considers that he remains independent,
notwithstanding the length of his tenure as independent non-executive
director.

All independent non-executive directors, do not have any business or
significant financial interests with the group and each of them have
confirmed their independence to the group pursuant to Rule 5.09 of the
GEM Listing Rules. Based on the above-mentioned, the board considers
that all independent non-executive directors are independent as required
under the GEM Listing Rules.

Following the passing of Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen on 15 May 2020, the
company has only two independent non-executive directors and two
audit committee members which fall below the minimum number of
three independent non-executive directors and three audit committee
members as required under Rules 5.05 and 5.28 of the GEM Listing Rules
respectively. In this regard, the company will use its best endeavor to find a
suitable candidate to fill the vacancy as soon as practicable and will make
further announcement upon appointment of an additional independent
non-executive director and audit committee member in accordance with
the GEM Listing Rules.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted the board diversity policy with a view to achieve
a sustainable and balanced development of the group. In designing the
Board’s composition, board diversity has been considered from various
aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural and educational
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and
length of service. All appointments to the board will be based on
meritocracy, and candidates will be considered against objective criteria,
having due regard for the benefits of diversity on the board. This diversity
policy is reviewed annually by the nomination committee of the company,
and where appropriate, revisions will be made with the approval from the
board.
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With the various experience of both the executive directors and the
independent non-executive directors and the nature of the group’s
business, the board considers that the directors have a balance of skills
and experience for the business of the group.

Continuous Professional Development of Directors

All directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. All
directors have been updated on the latest developments regarding the
GEM Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements to ensure
compliance and enhance their awareness of good corporate governance
practices. Continuing briefings and professional development to directors

will be arranged wherever necessary.
Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance

The board has established three committees, namely, the audit committee
(the "audit committee”), the remuneration committee (the “remuneration
committee”) and the nomination committee (the “nomination
committee”) with delegated powers for overseeing particular aspects of
the company’s affairs. Each of the committees of the company has been
established with written terms of reference.

The board meets regularly at least four times a year at approximately
quarterly intervals. Such regular meetings will normally involve the active
participation, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication, of a majority of directors entitled to be present. When
directors or committee members are unable to attend a meeting, they will
be advised of the matters to be discussed and given an opportunity to
present their views to the chairman prior to the meeting.

Apart from regular board meetings, the chairman also held meeting/
discussed with independent non-executive directors without the presence
of other directors during the year.

During regular meetings of the board, the directors discuss and formulate
the overall strategies of the group, monitor financial performances and
discuss the annual, interim and quarterly results, as well as discuss and
decide on other significant matters. Execution of daily operational matters
is delegated to management.
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Notice of regular board meeting is usually given at least 14 days in
advances to give all directors an opportunity to attend. An agenda for
each board meeting will be prepared and normally distributed to the
directors together with necessary board papers and related materials
at least three days before the board meeting. Directors are free to add
any items on the agenda as they may think fit. For all other board and
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given. All other
schedules and the relevant information of each board and committee
meeting are generally made available to directors or committee members
at least three days in advance.

The company secretary is responsible for recording the matters considered
and decisions reached by the board including any concerns or dissenting
views raised by directors. Minutes of board meetings and the board
committees meetings will be sent to all directors for their comments and
records as soon as after the board meeting. Such minutes are kept by the
company secretary and are open for inspection within reasonable advance
notice.

All directors have access to relevant and timely information, and they can
ask for further information or retain independent professional advisors
if necessary. They also have unrestricted access to the advice and service
of the company secretary, who is responsible for providing directors with
board papers and related materials and ensuring that board procedures
are followed.

Should a potential conflict of interest involving a substantial shareholder
or director arise, the matter is discussed in an actual meeting, as opposed
to being dealt with by written resolution. Independent non-executive
directors with no conflict of interest are present at meetings dealing with
conflict issues. Board committees, including the audit, remuneration and
nomination committees, all follow the applicable practices and procedures

used in board meetings for committee meetings.
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Attendance/Number of Meetings

HERY EBRETRE
Board Audit Remuneration Nomination
meeting Committee Committee Committee
Name of directors EEgE Exgg EREEE FHzEE REZEE
Executive directors HITESE
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent BEN KL 4/4 N/A 17 1”7
TiEm
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BRI e A 4a/4 N/A N/A N/A
TiEM TiEH A
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah AEeExE 4/4 N/A N/A N/A
TNaE TiE TiEH
Independent non-executive directors BYFHTES
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen e 2/3 2/3 0/1 N/A
(passed away on 15 May 2020) (R=—ZE=ZF TiE A
T A+HEBEH)
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony e PS 4/4 4/4 171 1/1
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew HRELE 4/4 4/4 1/1 1/1

Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

The Code stipulates that the roles of chairman and chief executive officer
should be separated and should not be performed by the same individual.
The company did not segregate the roles of the chairman and chief
executive officer. The role of the chief executive officer was performed by
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, who was the then existing chairman of the
company during the year under review. Apart from the reason of such
deviation mentioned above, the board also believes that vesting the roles
of both chairman and chief executive officer in the same person provides
the company with strong and consistent leadership, and allows for
effective and efficient planning and implementation of business decisions

and strategies.

The board will periodically review the merits and demerits of such
management structure and will adopt such appropriate measures as may
be necessary in the future taking into consideration of the nature and
extent of the group’s operation.
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Audit Committee

The company has established an audit committee with written terms of
reference in compliance with Rules 5.28 to 5.33 of the GEM Listing Rules.
The audit committee comprises two independent non-executive directors,
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony (being the chairman of the audit committee)
and Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew. As mentioned above, following
the passing of Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, the number of audit committee
member has fall below the minimum number as required under Rule 5.28
of the GEM Listing Rules and the company will find a suitable candidate
to fill the vacancy as soon as practicable.

The primary duties of the audit committee are to review the company’s
annual report and accounts, half-yearly report and quarterly reports
and to provide advices and comments thereon to the board. The audit
committee meets at least four times a year with management to review
the accounting principles and practices adopted by the group and to
discuss auditing, financial reporting matters, internal control and also
risk management system. The principal terms of reference includes, inter
alia, its relationship with the company’s external auditor, review of the
company’s financial information and oversight of the financial reporting
system and internal control procedures of the company.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, four audit committee meetings
were held. The group’s financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020 have been reviewed by the audit committee, who is of the opinion
that such statements comply with the applicable accounting standards, the
GEM Listing Rules and legal requirements, and that adequate disclosures
had been made.
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Remuneration Committee

The company established a remuneration committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. The roles and functions of
the remuneration committee include the determination of the specific
remuneration packages of all executive directors and senior management
of the company, including benefits in kind, pension rights and
compensation payments, such as any compensation payable for loss or
termination of their office or appointment, and make recommendations
to the board of the remuneration of non-executive directors. Members
of the remuneration committee include Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony,
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew as chairman. A majority of the votes in the
remuneration committee are exercisable by independent non-executive
directors. No director will be involved in any discussion in connection with

his own remuneration.

The remuneration committee schedules meet at least once a year. During
the year, one remuneration committee meeting was held to review the
remuneration packages of executive directors and the directors’ fees of
the independent non-executive directors.

Nomination Committee

The company established a nomination committee with written terms
of reference in compliance with the Code. Members of the nomination
committee include Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony, Mr. Wong Wang Fat,
Andrew and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, with Mr. Wong Wang Fat,

Andrew as chairman.

The nomination committee shall meet before the annual general meeting
of the company, or at other times as required by the chairman of the
nomination committee.

The roles and functions of the nomination committee include the
appointment and removal of directors, reviews the background,
experience, qualification, general market conditions and the company’s
articles of association in selecting and recommending candidates for
directorship.
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During the year, one nomination committee meeting was held. Issues
concerning the structure, size and composition of the board were
discussed. During the meeting, members considered and resolved that
all the existing directors shall be recommended to be retained by the
company. Further, Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong,
Vincent will retire from the board in accordance with Article 108 of the
company’s articles of association at the forthcoming annual general
meeting, and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.

Directors’ and Auditors’ Responsibilities for the
Financial Statements

The directors acknowledge their responsibilities for preparation of the
financial statements of the group and ensure that the financial statements
are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting
standards. The directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial
statements of the group.

The statements of external auditor of the company, Baker Tilly Hong Kong
Limited, about their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements
of the group is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 49
to 55 of this annual report.

Dividend Policy

The company has adopted a dividend policy, pursuant to which the
company gives priority to distributing dividend in cash and shares its
profits with its shareholders. The dividend payout ratio shall be determined
or recommended, as appropriate, by the board at its absolute discretion
after taking into account the company’s financial results, future prospects
and other factors, and subject to:

the articles of association of the company;

- the applicable restrictions and requirements under the laws of the
Cayman Islands;

- any banking or other funding covenants by which the company is
bound from time to time;

- the investment and operating requirements of the company; and

- any other factors that have material impact on the company.
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Internal Control and Risk Management

The board is responsible for the establishment, maintenance and review of
the group’s risk management and internal control system. To facilities the
effectiveness and efficiency of operations and to ensure compliance with
relevant laws and regulations, the group emphasizes on the importance of
a sound internal control system which is also indispensable for mitigating
the group’s risk exposures. A sound and effective internal control
system is designed for (i) safeguarding the interests of shareholders; (ii)
safeguarding assets of the group against misappropriation; (iii) ensuring
proper maintenance of accounting records for the provision of reliable
financial information; and (iv) ensuring compliance with the relevant
laws, regulations, and internal policies. Such system of internal control
is designed to provide reasonable, but not absolute, assurance against
material misstatement or loss and to manage and eliminate risks of failure
in operational systems and fulfilment of the business objectives.

The internal control policies and procedures mainly cover areas of finance,
operations and compliance. The company shall conduct an annual review
of the internal control policies and procedures to assess its effectiveness
and shall make recommendations to the board if any significant areas of
concern are identified.

During the year, the board, through the audit committee, has assessed
the effectiveness of the internal control system of the group including
financial, operational and compliance controls and risk management
staff

qualifications and experience, training programmes, and budget of the

functions and has considered the adequacy of resources,

group’s accounting and financial reporting function. The board is satisfied
that, the present system of internal control is effective. The group does
not have an internal audit function and does not see the need to have

one.

The group’s risk management and internal control systems are designed
to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives, and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. The board has the overall
responsibility to maintain the adequacies of resources, staff qualifications
and experience training programs and budget of accounting and
financial reporting function and the board concluded that the group’s risk

management and internal control systems were in place and effective.
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With respect to the monitoring and disclosure of inside information, the
group has adopted a policy on disclosure of inside information with the
aim to ensure the insiders are abiding by the confidentiality requirement
and are fulfilling the disclosure obligation of the inside information.

Business Ethics and Professional Code of
Conducts

The group puts high standards on business ethics and professional
conducts expected of all employees. Employees are briefed regularly on
the code of ethics and on the conducts of keeping confidentiality of the
information of business partners and the group. Briefings on the code of
ethics and on the conducts are held for new employees during orientation

sessions.

The group also adopts goods employment standards of non-discrimination
policy and fair compensation scheme.

Company Secretary

The company secretary supports the board and board committees
by ensuring good information flow within the board and that board
policy and procedures are followed. The company secretary is a full
time employee of the company and has day-to-day knowledge of the
company’s affairs. The company secretary is appointed by the board and
reports to the chairman and directors of the company. The company
secretary also plays an essential role in the relationship between the
company and its shareholders, and assist the board in discharging its
obligations to shareholders pursuant to the GEM Listing Rules.

According to Rule 5.15 of the GEM Listing Rules, the company secretary
has taken no less than 15 hours of relevant professional trainings to
update her skills and knowledge during the year.
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External Auditors

The audit committee is responsible for considering the appointment of
the external auditors and reviewing any non-audit functions performed by
the external auditors of the group. In particular, the audit committee will
consider, in advance of them being contracted for such service, whether
such non-audit service could lead to any potential material conflict of
interest. Nothing has come to its attention to cause the audit committee
to believe that the non-audit services provided by the external auditors
affect their independence, objectivity and effectiveness in the audit

process in accordance with applicable standard.

For the year ended 31 March 2020, the fee payable to the auditors in
respect of audit services amounted to HK$399,000 while the fee payable
to the auditors in respect of non-audit services relating to the taxation
amounted to HK$34,900.

Shareholders’ Rights

Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary
General Meeting and to Put Forward Proposal

There are no provisions allowing shareholders to propose new resolutions
at the general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies Law
(2012 Revision). However, shareholders are requested to follow article
64 of the Articles of Association of the company, general meetings shall
be convened on the written requisition of any one or more members
holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth
of the paid up capital of the company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the board or the secretary of the company, to
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such meeting
shall be held within two (2) months after the deposit of such requisition.
If within twenty-one (21) days of such deposit the board fails to proceed
to convene such meeting the requisition(s) himself (themselves) may
do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the board shall be reimbursed
to the requisitionist(s) by the company.
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Procedures for Shareholders to Propose a Person for
Election as a Director

The provisions for a shareholder to propose a person for election as a
director of the company are laid down in article 113 of the company’s
articles of association. No person other than a director retiring at the
meeting shall, unless recommended by the board for election, be eligible
for election to the office of director at any general meeting unless a
notice in writing of the intention to propose such person for election as a
director, signed by a shareholder (other than the person to be proposed
for election as a director) duly qualified to attend and vote at the meeting
for which such notice is given, and a notice in writing signed by such
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the head
office or at the Registration Office. The minimum length of the period
during which such notices are given shall be at least seven (7) days and
the period for lodgement of such notices shall commence no earlier than
the day after the dispatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed
for such election and end no later than seven (7) days prior to the date of
such general meeting.

Procedures for Sending Enquiries to the Board

For putting forward any enquiries to the board, shareholders may send
written enquiries to the company. Shareholders may send their enquiries
or requests in respect of their rights to the company’s principal place of
business in Hong Kong.

Communication with Shareholders

The board is committed to maintaining an ongoing and transparent
communication with all shareholders. The directors host annual general
meeting each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The company uses various communication channels, such as publication
of annual and quarterly reports, press announcements and circulars,
to update the shareholders on the group’s business developments and
financial performance. Such information is also available on the company’s
website: http://www.hkite.com.

Constitutional Documents

During the year, there is no change in the company’s constitutional
documents.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

RIR - HERERHRE

Our Vision

The environmental, social and governance (“ESG") report is prepared
by the group with reference to the ESG Reporting Guide as set out in
Appendix 20 to the GEM Listing Rules of The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited. It discloses major policies and management measures for
the environmental, social and governance matters relating to the provision
of smartcard, RFID, biometrics products and solutions and professional
services of the group during the year ended 31 March 2020.

In order to define what are relevant and material to our business in
relation to sustainability, the key is to understand what issues our
stakeholders are most concerned with. We define our stakeholders as
people who affect our business or who are affected by our business. Our
stakeholders include the shareholders, employees, suppliers, customers
and community. In our daily business, we actively exchange information
with our stakeholders through our open and transparent platform while
we are devoted to continuous improvement of our communication
system. We are committed in maintaining a long-term partnership with
our stakeholders and are actively engaged in addressing their concerns
with follow-up actions.

A ENVIRONMENTAL POLICY AND RESOURCES
MANAGEMENT MEASURES

Corporate Environmental Policy

In accordance with our environmental vision, we are committed
to upholding high environmental protection standards to fulfil
relevant requirements under applicable laws or ordinances during
the operation of the business. Being a provider of smartcard,
RFID, biometrics products and solutions and professional services,
we bear low impact on carbon emission and the environment.
Nevertheless, the group continues to actively manage our
environmental footprint via implementing environmental

protection measures in the office and workplace.
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Environmental, Social and Governance Report

We are one of the first 64 listed companies signing the Carbon
Footprint Repository for Listed Companies in Hong Kong in 2014.
These listed companies come from different sectors, including
property and construction, consumer services, financial, consumer
goods, industrial, utilities, information technology, materials and
telecommunication sectors. We are ready to disclose the carbon
footprint information and share the successful experiences in
carbon management and practices through various means. We
have pioneered the initiative and played an important role in
transforming Hong Kong into a green and low-carbon economy
since 2014.

General Disclosure and Key Performance Indicators
(IIKPIII)

A. Environmental
Aspect A1: Emissions

Emissions refers to air pollutants and greenhouse gases,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes. Emissions disclosed
as KPIs are calculated based on the consumption data
collected and applicable emission factors.

. Air Pollutants and Greenhouse Gases Emissions

Air pollutants include NOx, SOx, particulate matters
and other pollutants regulated under laws and
regulations of HKSAR. Greenhouse gases include
carbon dioxide, methane, nitrous oxide, ozone,

hydrofluorocarbons, chlorofluorocarbons etc.
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KPI A1.1 Emissions from vehicles

We were awarded with the Contract for
Management, Operation and Maintenance of
existing Parking Meter System (“CMOM”) by
the Government of the HKSAR and the CMOM
commencement date started on 20 January
2019. A vehicle fleet consisting of three diesel
trucks, two diesel vans, five electric vans and
fifteen motorcycles were established to fulfil the
requirements and needs under the CMOM. We
procured and deployed five units of electric van to
reduce as much vehicle emissions as possible. As
there are no available zero emission vehicle models
for the rest of the vehicle feet, the group can only
make new environmental vehicle replacement in

the later stage.

Types of emissions 2020

Kg
NOx 321.45
SOx 0.373902
Particulate Matter (“PM") 21.68
Hydrocarbons (“"HC") 22.47
Carbon Monoxide (“CO") 3,567.66
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KPI A1.2 Greenhouse gases (“GHG") emissions

Energy Usage

and Emissions Unit 2020 2019

Electricity consumption ~ kWh 34,817 4,74
in electric vehicles

Electricity consumption ~ kWh 151,173 86,187
in offices

Electricity consumption ~ kWh 185,990 90,928
in total

Greenhouse gases Tonnes of CO,e 99.29 49.10
emissions

Energy consumption kWh per 16263 14433
intensity (pro rata) employee

Aviation travel Kilometer 29,168 11,664

Greenhouse gases Tonnes of CO5e 2.65 1.06
emissions

Paper used Ream 331 230

Paper used intensity Ream per 3.04 3.65
(pro rata) employee

Generation of Hazardous wastes and
Non-hazardous wastes

KPI A1.2 Hazardous wastes

Hazardous wastes are those defined by regulations
of HKSAR. Hazardous wastes are required to be
separated and recorded for collection. During the
year, the group did not produce any hazardous

wastes in course of business.

KPI A1.3 Non-hazardous wastes

During the year, the group produced under the
CMOM approximately 37.63 tonnes (2019: 8.4
tonnes) of alkaline battery chemical wastes and
the wastes were landfill disposed through a waste
collector approved by the Environmental Protection
Department.
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Other non-hazardous wastes produced by the
group are mainly generated from daily office
operations, including daily paper usage, office
waste and food waste by employees. Those wastes
are uniformly classified, collected and disposal by
the property management office of the building on
a regular basis.

KPI A1.4 Measures to mitigate emissions

In accordance with policies stated above for
the reduction of air pollutants and greenhouse
gases emissions from vehicles, the group adopts
the following measures: control the numbers
of vehicles owned by the group; control the
frequency of employees to take transportation for
local business commuting; and control the volume
of business travel by employees. We consider such
measures had been achieved during the year.

KPI A1.5 How hazardous and non-hazardous

wastes are handled, reduction initiatives and results

achieved

Any hazardous wastes must be disposed
through the approved waste collectors. The
non-hazardous wastes, such as packaging material,
are systematically collected and transported
to designated government-funded disposal
facilities. For surplus resources, e.g. end-of-life
disposal products, we make every effort to ensure
responsible handling and disposal. Donation of
surplus resources to charitable organisations is
supported. We routinely isolate any recyclable
components, e.g. paper, metal and electronic
components, prior to disposal. We consider such
measures had been achieved during the year.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

AEBEMELNEMEBZIERYE
ERERNENABEE - BEH

FRAE MAEEY REERM
Y% - REEEWHhREH
BOMEREEETHR D BERE
BRI .

58 45 ORI A1 ARUE BE P ) 1

5

RiE FURE R EER R ERE
B BR  NREBRRATE
W EHIASEBEREWAOEE
2B B IR AL A m T AT AR
BEYMIEE ; WIERIEENEH
RKiTE - RMRAFNEEFERZS
HiE o

S EIERAI SRR EREE
BREYNTE  BIEEEENER
PG ES

B EREE YW E A RAEEYE
WHEEE - AtEEEEY 85
BEDMHEERZRUETREL
BRAEENBNENEERE - &
REHER (Pl B BHREER)
BMBNBRETEETINTHER
BRE - BMIZBmESEERER
BYE - BMeE %mﬂﬁgmh
AEIRE D 1T ORE - PIINARSR -
%%&%%iﬁoﬁﬁ%ﬁima
BERZERE -



Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Compliance with Relevant Laws and Regulations
that Have a Significant Impact on the Group

For the year ended 31 March 2020, there were
no confirmed non-compliance in relation to air
pollutants and greenhouse gases emissions,
discharges into water and land, and generation of
hazardous and non-hazardous wastes.

Aspect A2: Use of Resources

Energy Efficiency Management, Energy Use and

Emissions

Greenhouse gases emissions are mainly generated
from combusting gasoline by vehicles owned
by the group. Motor vehicles and motorcycles
are subject to annual mandatory inspection. We
regularly inspect our vehicle fleet to ensure that
any damaged exhaust pipe is immediately repaired
or replaced. Better fleet utilization through
vehicle-sharing is also strongly encouraged.

Electricity consumption is a contribution to our
greenhouse gases emission and energy footprints.
The group adopts a number of energy-saving
initiatives and efficiency practices to enhance
the awareness for greenhouse gases emission

reduction and energy saving, including:

- installing LED lighting and air-conditioning
system with “Grade 1" energy label;

- encouraging employees to turn off the
computers and information communication
technology (“ICT"”) devices when not in

use;

- setting office machines such as copiers
and display monitors to turn-off mode

automatically after office hour;
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- maintaining indoor temperature at an

optimal level for comfort;

- putting up signage emphasizing the
importance of energy saving; and

- encouraging employees to make the best
use of the ICT facilities so as to avoid
unnecessary travel arrangement.

We are also committed to using all kinds
of resources including water efficiently and
conservatively. Notwithstanding our office uses
public tap water shared by the building, we are still
endeavoring to change employees’ mindset to gear

towards environmental protection.

Hazardous and Non-Hazardous Waste
Management

The group is committed as ever to conserving
precious resources by taking eco-friendly
measures to reduce disposal of hazardous and
non-hazardous wastes throughout our operation.

We acknowledge the fact that wasted electrical
and electronic equipment are the fastest growing
waste materials in the world. To alleviate the
problem, we aim to increase the lifespan of each
computer by upgrading the hardware or software.
At the same time, we promote the concept
of replacing the particular depleted computer
components instead of the whole computer.
Reducing the replenishment rate of the computer
components is not our only objective, we also send
all depleted computer components to the licensed
recycling collectors to lessen the environmental
impact associated with electronic manufacturing
from raw materials, as well as to reduce hazardous
and toxic substances handled during disposal.
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We continue to develop and deploy sustainable
energy solutions and services for our clients,
rechargeable energy products and systems had
been launched and deployed for CMOM to reduce
the amount of alkaline battery chemical wastes
produced.

The group continuously monitors and reviews the
performance and effectiveness of our appliances,
replacing any out-date or inefficient systems with
up-to-date energy saving technology. We have
encouraged paperless workflow such as electronic
document storage, material sharing and reduced
administrative documentation. When using paper,
employees are encouraged to use double-sided
paper, black and white or recycled papers
when printing or photocopying documents. It
considerably improves operational efficiency while
creating a paperless operation system.

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

Regarding the operation of the group, we are not aware
of any significant impacts of activities on the environment
and natural resources. With the implementation of
green office measures, we strive to minimize impacts on
the environment and natural resources. The group will
continue to implement environment-friendly practices
within the operation in order to enhance sustainability.

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY
Charity and Social Responsibility

We are one of the sponsors for The Hong Kong Polytechnic
University Students’ Union Chinese Orchestra (“HKPUSUCQO").
HKPUSUCO was established in 1973 and is one of the oldest and
largest Chinese music groups in Hong Kong’s tertiary institutions.
There are now about 100 members. HKPUSUCO adheres to
the promotion of Chinese Music as well as the purpose of the
popularization of it. The HKPUSUCO provides the Chinese musical
instruments training, engagement of Chinese music performances
and the opportunities for public to appreciate the performances.
The Chinese Music concerts, ensembles and exchange are held,
and supported by music lovers each time.
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Colleagues and friends of us continued to support social caring
activities. We participated in the “Charity Walk 2020 - Take a Step,

K

Save a Lifel” of Suicide Prevention Services (“SPS”), this annual
featured event was scheduled to be held in Tai Tam Country Park
on Saturday, 15 February 2020 to achieve the fund-raising target.
Due to the outbreak of the COVID-19 epidemic, the Charity Walk
was cancelled. All donations will be used in SPS services for serving
people of ages in Hong Kong who are suicidal, in despair or
emotionally distressed by befriending them, and offering services
to help them to regain control of their emotions and find the will

to carry on.

We have been participating in ORBIS Pin Campaign since 2006.
Our colleagues wore the Pins on 10 October, 2019 to embrace
ORBIS’s mission in support of World Health Organization’s World
Sight Day. Established in 1982, ORBIS is working to eradicate
preventable blindness in impoverished nations worldwide.
Long-term eye care programs that increase local surgical skills,
facilities and eye health awareness have helped restore sight to
over 6.8 million needlessly blind people to date.

We were also awarded the “Caring Company Logo” by The Hong
Kong Council of Social Welfare for more than ten years.

During the year, we welcomed more than twenty interns joining
the group. They came from The Hong Kong Polytechnic University,
The City University of Hong Kong, The Chinese University of Hong
Kong, Royal Melbourne Institute of Technology, Hong Kong Shue
Yan University and Vocational Training Council with different
disciplines ranging from computing, electronic, information,
accounting, electrical and mechanical engineering. We have been
supporting internship program for university undergraduates since
2006 assisting more than 180 students to gain solid experience
and knowledge in their fields through taking actual work
responsibilities.

We have been collaborating with the key universities and institutes
in Hong Kong since our incorporation. Donations were also made
as encouragement to the universities in the pursuit of greater
excellence. We are honored to be the Principal Members of the

City University of Hong Kong Foundation.
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We supported by participating in the Selective Placement Division
of the Labour Department. The objective of scheme is to assist
people with disabilities in securing jobs in open employment that
best suit their abilities, skills, qualifications and experience, with
the ultimate aim of integrating them into the community and
helping them to be financially independent.

Employment and Labour Practices

In relation to human resources, we are committed to complying
with ordinances relating to disability, sex, family status and
race discrimination, as well as the Employment Ordinance, the
Minimum Wage Ordinance and ordinances relating to occupational
safety of our employees, so as to safeguard their interests and
well-being. We are very proud to receive the “Partner Employer
Award 5 years” by The Hong Kong General Chamber of Small
and Medium Business. The “Partner Employer Award” Recognition
Scheme was launched in 2010 to encourage local enterprises to
hire and provide internships to local students and graduates so
that they can accumulate work experience and develop a positive
attitude to enhance their competitiveness in the market.

We are committed to safeguarding the security and privacy of
personal data. When collecting and processing such data, we
comply with the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and Guidelines
issued by the Office of the Privacy Commissioner for Personal
Data, with a view to protecting the privacy of our employees,

partners, customers and community.

We comply with various anti-discrimination ordinances in Hong
Kong. We are committed to promoting diversity and equality,
all staff are treated with respect and dignity. At present, the
anti-discrimination ordinances in Hong Kong are:

° the Disability Discrimination Ordinance

° the Sex Discrimination Ordinance

° the Family Status Discrimination Ordinance
° the Race Discrimination Ordinance
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We review the corporate policy of employment and labour
regularly to ensure that we comply with the local labour
legislations and regulations. During the year, we did not come to
any material non-compliance case that constituted violation of
employment’ related laws and regulations.

Workforce 2020 2019

Number of employees

Permanent 90 98
Part-time 4 1
Intern 15 15

Workforce by gender
Female 10 17
Male 99 97

Workforce by age

20-29 29 31
30-39 15 21
40-49 15 25
50-59 30 24
60-69 19 13
70+ 1 0
By region
Hong Kong 107 112
Macao 2 2

Health and Safety

We are in compliance with the Occupational Safety and Health
Ordinance by ensuring that all employees are working in a safe
environment. We develop and adopt health and safety policies,
including prohibition of smoking in workplace, abuse of alcohol
and drugs, identification and prevention of risks and hazards in
working area, and follow-up actions for accidents or personal
injuries. Such policies are set out in our Employee Handbook for
our employees to comply with. We also update the health and
safety policies from time to time to ensure that the policies are
best fit to our business.

First-aid kits and fire-fighting devices and equipment are provided
and easily identified in the premises for case of injuries and

emergencies.
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Fire protection system that best fits our needs for simplicity,
reliability and ease of maintenance is established. We appoint a
registered fire service contractor to carry out the annual works or
the provision of or improvement on fire service installations and
equipment. Numbers of fire extinguishers for water and carbon
dioxide, fire sand and fire blanket, emergency lighting and exit
sign have been installed and tested by the fire service contractor
annually. We conduct fire drills and use of equipment every year.

During the year, we achieved zero work-related fatalities and lost
243 working mandays (2019: 62) due to work injury.

Training and Job Rotation

As the demand for skills and talent specific to our businesses
continues to increase, competition poses the risk of employee
turnover. We address this risk by providing our employees with
training opportunities and competitive benefits, creating loyalty
while cultivating their professional development.

Every new joiner will be provided with proper orientation training
and mentoring in order to help them adapt to the new working
environment affirmatively and quickly. Continuous trainings are
also committed by us in different ways including on-the-job
training, comprehensive training for specific skill development and
professional training for relevant employees. Each department
is also responsible for setting and developing their own training
programmes not only to meet the specific business requirements,
but also to build up the on-going skills and career development
of our staff. Job rotation opportunity is given to help advance
personal development and facilitate employee substitutions. Both
the management and employee work together to identify the
department and position suitable for a job rotation.

Labour Standards

We comply with all relevant laws and regulations that have
significant impacts on us relating to the prevention of use of child
and forced labour. We do not accept any forms of forced labour
service. We also prohibit employing child labour at any working
place under any circumstances. We inspect applicant’s documents
and qualifications strictly during the recruitment process to ensure
that all relevant laws in respect thereof are complied with.
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Quality Management System

We implement and maintain a quality management system of
high standards. It is our core value that we never compromise on
safety or quality and dedicate ourselves to a zero harm-and-fault
mindset. We adopted the practices of 1SO 9001:2015 Quality
Assurance System which were first accredited in 2002. We
maintain the quality by complying with those standards and
demonstrate that we have the ability to consistently provide
services that meet our clients’ needs and fulfil applicable statutory
and regulatory requirements.

Intellectual Property Rights

We acknowledge the importance of intellectual property rights
and protection, we set out our policies and principles towards the
creation, utilization and protection of software, patents, designs
and trademarks registration and the related renewals.

In order to safeguard our intellectual property rights, a document
or notification is provided to partners and vendors before business
engagement. Internally, we enter into employment contracts with
our employees which contain provisions on intellectual property
rights and confidentiality. Employees sign written confirmation
to (i) confirm that all intellectual property rights created or made
during their employment shall be vested in the group; and (ii)
agree not to use or disclose the confidential information without
authorization or approval.

Anti-corruption

We establish a strong internal control to institute a vigorous
enforcement regime against corruption and fraud. Strong
anti-corruption and anti-fraud culture is a vital part of the overall
governance framework of the us. We are committed to mobilize
resources to safeguard the assets and ultimate interests of our
shareholders.

ESG risks within our supply chain are addressed through strict
procurement processes and contractual requirements. We maintain
a list of preferred suppliers so as to ensure reliable and effective
delivery of the products and services we require.
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The directors submit herewith their annual report together with the
audited consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March
2020.

Principal activities

The principal activity of ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is
investment holding. The principal activities and other particulars of the
principal subsidiaries are set out in note 34 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Segment information

Details of the segment reporting in respect of the analysis of the principal
activities and geographical locations of the operations of the company and
its subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “group”) during the financial
year are set out in note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Business review

Details of business review information are set out in the section headed
“Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 6 to 12 of this annual
report.

Major customers and suppliers
The information in respect of the group’s revenue and purchases

attributable to the major customers and suppliers respectively during the
financial year is as follows:
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Percentage of the group’s total

HAEEAEFI L
Revenue Purchases
g BB
The largest customer BAEP 62% -
Five largest customers in aggregate RAREF B 91% -
The largest supplier BAHER - 10%
Five largest suppliers in aggregate RRMEEE AT - 43%

At no time during the year have the directors, their associates or any
shareholder of the company (which to the knowledge of the directors
owns more than 5% of the company’s share capital) had any interest in
these major customers and suppliers.
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Dividend

No interim dividend was declared and paid during the year. The directors
do not recommend the payment any dividend in respect of the year ended
31 March 2020 and 2019.

Charitable donations

Charitable donations made by the group during the year amounted to
HK$8,500 (2019: HK$Nil).

Share capital

Details of the movements in the share capital of the company are set out
in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

Pre-emptive rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the company’s
Articles of Association and there was no restriction against such rights
under the laws of the Cayman Islands which would oblige the company to

offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing shareholders.
Directors

The directors who held office during the financial year and up to the date
of this report were:

The company

Executive directors

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah

Independent non-executive directors

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen (passed away on 15 May 2020)
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew

In accordance with Article 108 of the company’s Articles of Association,
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony and Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent will retire
from the board by rotation at the forthcoming annual general meeting

and, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election.
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The list of directors who have served on the board of directors in the
subsidiaries of the company during the financial year and up to date of
this report is as follows:

Mr. But Wui Fai

Ms. Lau Yuet Ping

Ms. Yeung Yee Ching (resigned on 1 September 2019)
Ms. Yeung Yuen Chun, Mona

Directors’ service contracts

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent, Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung and Mr. Liu Hoi
Wah have entered into service contracts with the company on 3 March
2014 for an initial fixed term of one year commencing from 1 April 2014
which will continue thereafter until terminated by three months’ notice in
writing served by either party on the other.

Except for the above, none of the directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract which is
not determinable by the company, or any of its subsidiaries, within one
year without payment of compensation, other than normal statutory
obligations.

Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures

At 31 March 2020, the interests and short positions of each director
and chief executive of the company in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the company or any of its associated corporations (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (the
“SFO")), which were notified to the company and The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”) pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of
Part XV of the SFO, including any interests and short positions which they
have taken or deemed to have taken under such provisions of the SFO, or
which were required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in
the register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to Rules
5.46 to 5.68 of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on GEM of
the Exchange (the “GEM Listing Rules”), to be notified to the company
and the Exchange were as follows:
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0)

(In

Interests in issued shares of the company

(N

RRT IR G ER

Number of ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

BRO.OIETEERKRE
Percentage of
Personal Corporate Family Other total issued
Name of director interests interests interests interests Total shares
EE BT
EEpE BAES DEfER RikfER HipfEs &5t ROBDL
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 7,108,000 (L) 241,102,348 (L) - 248,210,348 (L) 26.82%
ey sE (Note 2) (Fff3E2)
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 114,672,000 (L) - - 114,672,000 (L) 12.39%
SRS
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) - - 1,760,000 (L) 0.19%
FEREL
Notes: BEE -
1. The letter “L” denotes a long position in the shares. 1. [L] FRTRG BITFE ©
2. These shares are beneficially owned by Rax-Comm (BVI) Limited 2. AR 19 B — R 8 B X BF B B 89 2 BIRax-

(“Rax-Comm”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin Islands.
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent held 76.39% of the entire issued share

capital of Rax-Comm.

Interests in equity derivatives (as defined in the
SFO) in, or in respect of, underlying shares

As at 31 March 2020, the directors had the following personal
interests in options to subscribe for shares of the company granted
at HK$1 under a share option scheme of the company. Each
option gives the holder the right to subscribe for one share.
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Number of

Number of shares acquired  Price per share
options Period during on exercise of to be paid
outstanding at which options options during on exercise
Name of director 31 March 2020  Date granted exercise the year of options
R-B-%F
ZA=t+-H ERfTE TRERE
i RATEM BRETRE BAXMNN
EEpA BREHE REAH R HRHEE BRER
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
BENEE 900,000 () —E—"F+=AKE “E—+FR AREE - 0.1465 7T
“Z-—%/\AtA
900,000 (L) 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to - HK$0.075
7 August 2021
900,000 (L) ZZT-N\FtA=H —Z-\$/\A=ZHZE - 0.075%7T
—ZTZ-FN\RtH
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
SR A 900,000 (L) —E—~"E+=-ARH —T—t4§AhEZE - 0.146/87T
—Z--F\RtA
900,000 (L) 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to - HK$0.075
7 August 2021
900,000 (L) —EF-NFLA=H “Z-\$\A=HE - 0.075/87T
“Z-—4¥/\AtH
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah 900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
AfELEE 900,000 (1) =—E—-~E+=AAXAH Tt AhEZE - 0.14675 7T
—Z-—-%¥/\AtH
900,000 (L)  3July 2018 3 August 2018 to - HK$0.075
7 August 2021
900,000 () =—E—-N\HtHA=H “Z-\F\A=RZE - 0.075/87T
“Z-—%/\AtH
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 900,000 (L) 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to - HK$0.154
7 August 2021
FEREL 900,000 (1) =—E—RELANH - F-ANEZE - 0.154/& 7T
—T--F§N\AtA
900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
900,000 () ZZT—AF+ZANHA —Z—t4§AhEZE - 0.146/87T
“Z--%/\AtH
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Number of

Number of shares acquired ~ Price per share
options Period during on exercise of to be paid
outstanding at which options options during on exercise
Name of director 31 March 2020  Date granted exercise the year of options
RZZZER
=A=+-H ERTE TRBRE
i RATGEHY BREMRE BAX N
ESps BREZHE RLAH FB IR T 155 HRHEE BRER
900,000 (L) 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to - HK$0.075
7 August 2021
900,000 () =—E-N\¥+HA=H —Z-\F\A=RZE - 0.075%7T
“E-—%)/\AtH
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony 900,000 (L) 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to - HK$0.154
7 August 2021
BMZE 5t 900,000 () Z=Z—RFLANA “Z-RE-ANBZE - 0.1548 T
—Z-5\AtH
900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
900,000 () ZZF—A~F+ZARH —T—+tE ARHE - 0.146/87C
—E-_-F/\AtH
900,000 (L) 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to - HK$0.075
7 August 2021
900,000 () ZZ—N\F+A=H —Z-\EN\A=RZE - 0.07587
“Z2C-%)/\AtH
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew 900,000 (L) 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to - HK$0.154
7 August 2021
BREEE 900,000 () =Z—HF+ANA —Z-"E-ANBE - 0.154%7T
—E-_-F/\AtH
900,000 (L) 6 December 2016 5June 2017 to - HK$0.146
7 August 2021
900,000 (1) ZE—REFTZAKRAE —Z—+EXARRZE - 0.146/8 7T
“E%)/\AtH
900,000 (L)  3July 2018 3 August 2018 to - HK$0.075
7 August 2021
900,000 (L) —ZE—/\F+A=H - \FN\R=RZE - 0.075%7T
—E-F/\AtH

Note:  The letter “L"” denotes a long position in the shares.
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(I  Aggregate interest in the shares and underlying
shares of the company
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()  ARBRGDRAEBER G A EDS

Aggregate Aggregate Percentage

number in number in of Total

Name of director ordinary shares  underlying shares Total issued shares

HAAR S BT

EEME EERA HER G ast RAEWED L

Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent 248,210,348 (L) 1,800,000 (L) 250,010,348 (L) 27.01%
BEN K E

Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung 114,672,000 (L) 1,800,000 (L) 116,472,000 (L) 12.58%
PRI S

Mr. Liu Hoi Wah - 1,800,000 (L) 1,800,000 (L) 0.19%
ZFERE

Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen 1,760,000 (L) 2,700,000 (L) 4,460,000 (L) 0.48%
FRSRIE L

Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony - 2,700,000 (L) 2,700,000 (L) 0.29%
RZE A

Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew - 2,700,000 (L) 2,700,000 (L) 0.29%

BRELLE

Note:  The letter “L" denotes a long position in the shares.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2020, none of the directors,
chief executive of the company or their associates had any interests in the
shares or debentures of, or short positions in the shares of, the company
or any of its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
SFO) which would have to be notified to the company and the Exchange
pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO, including interests
or short positions which they have taken or deemed to have taken under
such provisions of the SFO, or which were required, pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which
were required, pursuant to Rules 5.46 to 5.68 of the GEM Listing Rules,
were required to be notified to the company and the Exchange.

Wi (L FREBGATE -
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Directors’ and chief executive’s rights to acquire
shares or debt securities

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Directors’ and chief
executive’s interests and short positions in shares, underlying shares and
debentures”, at no time during the year was the company, or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors and chief
executive of the company to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition
of shares in, or debt securities, including debentures, of the company or
any other body corporate, and none of the directors and chief executive
of the company or their spouses or children under the age of 18, had any
right to subscribe for the securities of the company, or had exercised any

such rights.

Interests and short positions of shareholders in
the shares and underlying shares

At 31 March 2020, the following persons, other than a director or chief
executive of the company, had interests or short positions in the shares
and underlying shares of the company as recorded in the register required
to be kept under Section 336 of the SFO and so far as is known to any

director or chief executive of the company:

Name of shareholder

%%&ﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ%%%
F

BRUA Lt [ E RITRAERED - ARG REFAES
BRE s MoK R | PTREESN - RER - AR B S EAL(NE
NEGES TR EARAESERITRERTEE
BAXRRSEMEMEABBORD REBES (BRE
) MESHZ MARREZRITRAHIBENLRE
AT AR+ N\BR ) F BRI A R A R R A A
B IREITE AR SRR -

ERHARHITRRARBENES AR

Q

RoF-TE=A=+—8  REBHEDIEBEETAT
BiEeBRMAHRAEAAADNEFRTRERAL
FHAL (RARNEERTRARBI) RAATORE R
EEEGEEEE ERY

Number of Percentage of

ordinary shares held  total issued shares

FriFEER HERITRSE
[ RGEAR WEDLE
Rax-Comm (Note) 241,102,348 26.05%
Rax-Comm (Fff5E)
Mr. George Roger Manho 48,142,254 5.20%

BIEM L

Note:  These shares have been disclosed as the corporate interests of the relevant

directors in the section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and
short positions in shares, underlying shares and debentures”.

Save as disclosed above, the company had not been notified of any other
person, other than directors or the chief executive of the company, who
had an interest or a short position in the shares and underlying shares
of the company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO and so far is known to any
director or chief executive of the company as at 31 March 2020.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Share option scheme

Details of the company’s share option scheme are set out in note 28 to
the consolidated financial statements.

Purchase, sale and redemption of shares of the
company

During the year, the company repurchased nil shares (2019: nil shares) in
the share capital of the company on the Exchange pursuant to the general
mandates granted by the shareholders at the annual general meetings of
the company held on 8 August 2019.

Save as disclosed above, neither the company nor any of its subsidiaries
purchased, sold or redeemed any of the company’s shares during the year.

Directors’ interest in transactions, arrangement
or contracts

Except for the transactions disclosed in note 33 to the financial statements,
no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance subsisted during
or at the end of the year in which the director or an entity connected with
the director is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

Permitted indemnity provision

At no time during the year and up to date of this annual report, there
was or is, any permitted indemnity provision being in force for the benefit
of the directors (whether made by the company or otherwise) or of the
directors of the company’s subsidiaries (if made by the company).

Management contracts

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the
whole or any substantial part of the business of the company were
entered into or in existence during the year.

Connected transactions

There were no transactions which should be disclosed in the annual report
as connected transactions in accordance with the requirements of the
GEM Listing Rules.

Five year summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the group for
the last five financial years is set out on page 138 of this annual report.

Directors’ Report
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Emolument policy

The emolument policy for the employees of the group is set up by the
remuneration committee on the basis of their merit, qualifications and

competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the company are decided by the
remuneration committee, having regard to the group’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The company has adopted share option scheme as an incentive to
directors and eligible employees, details of the scheme are set out in note

28 to the consolidated financial statements.
Sufficiency of public float

Based on the information available to the company and within the
knowledge and belief of the directors of the company, the company has
maintained at least the prescribed amount of minimum public float during
the year and up to the date of this report as required under the GEM
Listing Rules.

Confirmation of independence

The company has received from each of the independent non-executive
directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant to Rule
5.09 of the GEM Listing Rules and considers all of the independent

non-executive directors are independent.
Auditor

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 March 2020
have been audited by Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited. A resolution will be
submitted at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the company
to re-appoint Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited as auditor of the company.
There has been no change in the auditor of the company in the recent
three years.

By order of the board
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent

Hong Kong, 12 June 2020

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Independent Auditor’s Report

8 AR S

@ pakertilly
X Bk B PR

Independent auditor’s report to the members
of ITE (Holdings) Limited

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)
Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of ITE (Holdings)
Limited (the “company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively referred to
as the “group”) set out on pages 56 to 137, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2020, and the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income,
the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant
accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair
view of the consolidated financial position of the group as at 31 March
2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong
Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (the “HKICPA”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.
We are independent of the group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code
of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled
our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe
that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement,
were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole,
and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate
opinion on these matters.
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Key audit matter
BREKREE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENERNNEERRETSEE

Revenue recognition on service contracts RIS # #I = TER

Refer to notes 2(u) to the consolidated financial statements for the accounting policy and refer to note 4 to the

consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures

F2HEEMBEREMF2NEFBREREFSMBRERMFINFARE

Revenue and costs of smartcard systems, radio frequency identification
("RFID”) and IT services contracts are recognised by reference to the
stage of completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting
period.

The stage of completion requires the management to estimate the
total contract costs expected to be incurred in completing each of the
contracts undertaken by the group.

Revenue is one of the key performance indicators for the group. It
is significant to the consolidated financial statements and requires
judgements in applying the input method for recognising revenue from
related service contracts.

BRERESR - FEBR REMB M E MR DRER S HROT
TEDHATHR -

EEEREMEAKRERTHEANERENRKXNANUNSHELR
oL e

BN KEE A RN EBERAE UG OTTE A L%
A RERABRR RIS A 40 hzs - B E (AR B b — (BRI P R B
2 .

Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

— Discussing with the responsible project leaders in
respect of the preparation of approved budgets and
the determination of stage of completion as at end of
the reporting period;

— Checking and testing, on a sampling basis, the
contract sum and budgeted costs to the signed service
contracts and approved budgets, and on a sampling
basis, checking to actual costs incurred, progress
billings to date and any provisions for any foreseeable
losses as at the end of the reporting period; and

— Evaluating and assessing management’s estimates
in their determination of, among other matters, the
percentage of completion of the service contracts,
actual costs incurred to date, estimated costs to
completion and provisions for loss making contracts.
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Key audit matter
BEREKEE

How our audit addressed the key audit matter
EENERNTEERRETEE

Impairment assessment of trade receivables and contract assets & 3 BB R & X EE KR E T

Refer to notes 2(i), 2(j) and 2(l)(i) to the consolidated financial statements for the accounting policies and refer to notes
17 and 25(a) to the consolidated financial statements for detailed disclosures
B2HEATHERERME20) 0 2)R2()()HWEHBRREE M KRR E17%25(a) FH1EE

As at 31 March 2020, trade receivables and contract assets were
significant to the group, amounted to an aggregate total of
HK$8,060,418, represented 25% of the total assets of the group.

In addition, the group’s accounting policy for impairment was based on
a forward-looking expected credit loss (“ECL") approach.

The provision matrix measurement of ECL requires the application
of significant management judgement. Management considers
specific factors such as historical observed default rates, forecast
economic conditions and the age of the balances. Management uses
this information to calibrate the matrix to determine the amount of
impairment.

This area would be focused on because it requires a high level of
management judgement and the amounts involved are material.

=
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Our audit procedures included but were not limited to:

— Assessing the reasonableness of the group’s lifetime
ECL provision matrix model which includes the inputs
and assumptions used by the group for calculating
impairment loss and criteria for assessing if there has
been a significant increase in credit risk.

— Checking the correctness of ageing of trade receivables
and assessed significant trade receivables that were
past and overdue.

— Circulating trade receivable confirmations, checking
major customers’ background and their historical
payments, and bank advices for the settlement of
trade receivables subsequent to the year end on a
sampling basis; and

— Checking the contracts with customers with relevant
contract services schedules and recalculated to assess
if the contract assets and revenue has been properly
recognised over the scheduled period.
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Information Other than the Consolidated
Financial Statements and Auditor’s Report
Thereon

The directors of the company (the “Directors”) are responsible for the
other information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon (the “other information”).

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit,
or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based on the work we
have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of the
other information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing
to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Directors and the Audit
Committee for the Consolidated Financial
Statements

The Directors are responsible for the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs
issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the Directors
determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are
responsible for assessing the group’s ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either
intend to liquidate the group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The Audit Committee is responsible for overseeing the group’s financial
reporting process.

@ ITE (Holdings) Limited

REVBRERZBMBRSHEMBER

ARBEFR([EF)) AHEMERAERET - HMEH
(TEMEH]) BRARFROMBEER  ETRESAM
BIR KB SR H R EEI R E o

EEHEAVBHRRFENERLERERMER - ME
ETGYHEMERBEREMEANKE LR °

RESEZGEYBRERME  ESNEEAHELME
B tmEEEMENETEGEYBHRRAESEER
BIETEZNERFEERNN » IUFEEERERK
Ao fiE B R R AN BEN RS B 8 ATEUS R H (b B R E
TOIERREMEMNERBEAHERRL  EEAREH
MERE - st - BEHAERRS -

EENERREENGREMBRRAR
FENEME

ERREFZAARRBEEESITMASHEMOETBY R
SRR EBRRGAINRBEES  FRAETMA TR
RIEAMEAMBRE - REFEEHRRESVBHRER
BURENEBAAMEER  AEZFRAMBRER TS ER
PARRFE ok 54 3R T S B B R AR PR

ERBGEVBRRE EXRAH G EXERHER
EHEEN  WHRBERFECEERNER (WER) - BRIk
EEHS BEEEBRNFELEE BT EEM
ERAITRIE - BRIERAASELE RERN = -

BEREEREEEE BESENMBHRSESRIE o



Independent Auditor’s Report

VR LGRS

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a
body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee
that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect a
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud
or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate,
they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of
users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional
judgement and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We
also:

- Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and, obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting
from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the Directors.
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- Conclude on the appropriateness of the Directors’ use of the  — HEESRAFACESTERNBEEEIEL AR -
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit WIRE TR BT RE  BERSGFAEEEK
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related BRABBENEATHEEN  mAgdEshys B
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the E’\J%—*ri“i‘“éf’a%ﬂéﬁiiﬁ;m* & FRB/IFE
group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that BATHEEN - AENEEZEMBTETIREER
a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in 3 %#u?éﬁﬂ%iﬁz?ﬁqﬂ RFERAIR TR - (WA BEEET
our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated CRIBRIEERR - BEERDEREEZZEAD
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to iﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁtﬁﬁﬂi HEETRE o AT - RIRFIESL
modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit BRATREEY EEEEXFELE -

evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the group to cease to
continue as a going concern.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the  — M EMBERERNEBERAN - BERAS
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and BEREEN  URGEMBERRES T 5 REE
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the AR SHMEHE -

underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

= Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial ~ — # EEBERNERIERTHNMFEERNERTR
information of the entities or business activities within the group REENENRE UEHRAUBHRRERE
to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. c EEBEEBEEIMAM  EENHT - FE
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance RERERAEZHER -

of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit
opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other EHEEHEZZS &R (KRB FotastalHE  KHE%
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit ~ BFREREFERETER  ZEERROFEESEETA
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we T2/ @ BIH) A #B B I (E (A AR ©

identify during our audit.
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We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report
unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or
when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should
not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of
doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest
benefits of such communication.

The engagement director on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 12 June 2020

Tong Wai Hang

Practising Certificate number P06231
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

e 18 2 S HLA 2 TE W ER AR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

Note 2020 —E=-Z& 2019 —Z—NFE

B 5 HK$#E T HK$E 7T

Revenue g 4 44,345,206 24,791,363
Cost of services rendered B e AR 75 A0 K AR (31,548,825) (17,119,797)
Cost of sales CEEYIRA (88,729) (157,040)
Gross profit EF 12,707,652 7,514,526
Other revenue and other gains/(losses), net  Efthlzs & oAb Uezs / (E518) 5 1,091,834 (38,377)
Administrative expenses THEH (11,917,737) (10,421,775)
Finance costs R30I 6(a) (858,465) (510,059)
Profit/(loss) before taxation BB ATREF(FE) 6 1,023,284 (3,455,685)
Income tax Fr5 %t 7(a) - -
Profit/(loss) and total comprehensive FRARATEE AEMN

income/(expense) for the year A (FE) REEWRA

attributable to owners (ZH) 4%

of the company 1,023,284 (3,455,685)
Earning/(loss) per share SREAN (FE) 11
Basic and diluted (HK cents) BEARREE GBIL) 0.11 (0.37)

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated — Ff&SgBT s A4 It S4R A BITSIRE M — 25 ©

financial statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

e IR LR

As at 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) R=Z=ZF%=A=+—H (JABsE)

Note 2020 —E=FF 2019 —Z— N4
B HK$#E T HK$H 7T
Non-current assets RBEE
Property, plant and equipment M WE k& 13 3,826,567 3,716,138
Interest in an associate NG 14 - -
Goodwill S 15 - -
3,826,567 3,716,138
Current assets REEE
Inventories FE 16 1,790,103 1,347,992
Trade and other receivables B 5 Kk H A UK 17 10,466,461 10,291,944
Amount due from an associate JE WS Bt N B FRIE 18 400,000 -
Financial assets at fair value FBRBRZ AR EREN 19
through profit or loss SREE - 85,064
Income tax recoverable E e RS 48,465 48,465
Pledged bank deposits B IFRITFR 20 11,518,641 11,540,203
Cash and cash equivalents B RRESEED 20 4,592,770 4,573,976
28,816,440 27,887,644
Current liabilities REBaE
Trade and other payables B 5N H M E R IE 21 7,372,811 4,229,267
Lease liabilities HEaE 22 1,483,455 749,526
Loans from related parties FEALTER 23 8,800,000 11,600,000
Provisions Bt 24 429,173 853,588
18,085,439 17,432,381
Net current assets REEEFE 10,731,001 10,455,263
Total assets less current liabilities HEERARBERS 14,557,568 14,171,401
Non-current liabilities EREERE
Lease liabilities HEAE 22 1,610,313 2,247,430
Net assets EEREE 12,947,255 11,923,971
Capital and reserves EXRH#E 29
Share capital (&N 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves EE 3,692,175 2,668,891
Total equity BRER 12,947,255 11,923,971

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on 12 June EEGR _-_T_-THE XA+ ARENBRETIE -

2020.
Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent Cheng Kwok Hung 2EN BRER 1
Director Director B= 5=

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated — Ff#AsEIFsT A4 I Z 454 B TSR R A — 215 ©

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

e fE A B3R

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

Share Share Merger Exchange  Share option  Accumulated Total
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses equity
A RipE aftfE  WERBE  BREGRR ZithR L
HK$7E T HK$ET HK$ET HK$ 7T HK$ /& HKSET HK$ET

Note (note 29(0)()) (ot 29(0)(i)) ~ (note 29(o)(i)) ~ (note 29(b)(iv)
i (Rrstaoo))  (Rtszooblii)  (HsaE29bi) — (RFEE29(bii)
At 1 April 2018 —E2-\¥ME-A 9,255,080 20,239,745 10,748910 369,466 2,069,300 (27,.869,845) 14,812,656
Changes in equity for the year: ERNERSET |
Loss and total comprehensive ERBRR2ARMES
expense for the year - - - - - (3,455,685)  (3,455,685)
Equity-settled share-based payments — RELENRHAEREAZ 28(b) - - - - 567,000 - 567,000
Lapse of share options KR 280 - - - - (52,000) 52,000 -
At 31 March 2019 RZF-"E=R=1-A
and 1 April 2019 R=Z-7%ERA-A 9,255,080 20,239,745 10,748,910 369,466 2,584,300 (31.273530) 11,923,971
Changes in equity for the year: ERNERES |
Profit and total comprehensive ERETRZENALE
income for the year - - - - - 1023284 1,023,284
Lapse of share options RieElE 28(a) - - - - (194,000 194,000 -
At 31 March 2020 R-B-Z2E=F=1-A 9,255,080 20,239,745 10,748,910 369,466 2,390,300 (30,056,246) 12,947,255

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated — Fi#&S&MtsE AR I E 5 A MBHRELN —3BH o
financial statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited



For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

e R R

—ZoTF=[=+—RHIFE ABTIIE)

Note 2020 —E-FF 2019 —F—N4%F
k3 HK$E T HK$ETT
Operating activities REXK
Profit/(loss) before taxation BRATEF(E58) 1,023,284 (3,455,685)
Adjustments for: TS IEIEL A
— Fair value (gain)/loss on financial assets — ERBREARERERN
at fair value through profit or loss CREENARE
(Hz) /B8 5 (28,812) 108,947
— Loss on disposal of financial assets — HEBBEHRRAAEERE
at fair value through profit or loss N& R E ENERE 5 6,154 133,331
— Interest income — FIBWA 5 (74,237) (30,105)
— Finance costs — BT RAR 6(a) 858,465 510,059
— Equity-settled share-based payments — BRREEH ARG AERMSK  6(b) - 567,000
— Depreciation — e 6(c) 3,205,212 352,515
— Loss on disposal of property, plant —HEME  BERZEN
and equipment =] 6(c) 32,330 -
— Provisions — B 6(c) 185,634 774,508
— Reversal of unused provisions — REDFA B {5 (o] 3% 6(c) (610,049) (642,896)
— Write-off of inventories — FE 6(c) 3,147 6,928
Operating profit/(loss) before REEELETHATH
changes in working capital TERF(F18) 4,601,128 (1,675,398)
Increase in inventories 7 & 50 (445,258) (100,959)
Increase in trade and other receivables B 5 K H i fEUGRIE L AN (174,517) (1,353,487)
Increase in amount due from an associate & Y 4 X T FRIE I AN (400,000) -
Increase/(decrease) in trade and B R HMPER I
other payables = CRd) 3,239,327 (2,321,840)
Cash generated from/(used in) ERELE (A B
operations 6,820,680 (5,451,684)
Tax paid, net B R CFE) = (48,465)
Net cash generated from/(used in) REEKEE (FTA) BeFE
operating activities 6,820,680 (5,500,149)

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 % #



Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

e RER

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HEZ-TF=A=+—HILFE NETIE)

Note 2020 —E-FF 2019 == —N4%F
B & HKS$# T HKS$#E T

Investing activities REEH
Payment for purchase of property, SRBEWME  BEKEE

plant and equipment (110,707) (473,058)
Decrease in financial assets at fair value BBBHRRAALERIERN

through profit or loss %mﬂ‘ié@ b 107,722 1,764,872
Repayment from an associate Bt N REEER - 400,000
Interest received EHﬁZﬂ,u 74,237 30,105
Net cash generated from REFHELERSFE

investing activities 71,252 1,721,919
Financing activities RESER
Interest paid 2ATF B (759,790) (106,854)
Capital element of leases rental paid ENEEREMERTTER (3,140,452) (398,959)
Interest element of leases rental paid Eﬁ%ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%ﬁ’]ﬂ TR (194,458) (57,368)
Proceeds of loans from related parties HEALTIRAGRK - 11,900,000
Repayment of loans to related parties E}%%Bﬁ CY N =N (2,800,000) (300,000)
Decrease/(increase) in pledged BRI IRITIER

bank deposits A (3 an) 21,562 (9,539,929)
Net cash (used in)/generated RMETE (A EL£RELFE

from financing activities (6,873,138) 1,496,890
Net increase/(decrease) in cash REeRBEEENFEE

and cash equivalents #h0 G A) 18,794 (2,281,340)
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 April ROE—HHNRERAEZEY 4,573,976 6,855,316
Cash and cash equivalents R=EA=+—HWHEL

at 31 March RRESZEEY 20 4,592,770 4,573,976

The accompanying notes form an integral part of the consolidated — Fi#&S&MtsE AR I E 5 A MBHRELN —3BH o

financial statements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e RS R R MR

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

General information

ITE (Holdings) Limited (the “company”) is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited liability
under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands. The address
of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, PO. Box
2681, Grand Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The address of
the principal place of business of the company and its operating
subsidiaries is Units C & D, 1st Floor, Por Yen Building, 478 Castle
Peak Road, Kowloon, Hong Kong.

The company’s shares are listed on the GEM of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Exchange”).

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2020 comprise the company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “group”).

The company is an investment holding company. The principal
activities of its subsidiaries are set out in note 34.

Significant accounting policies
(a) Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs"”), which collective term includes all applicable
individual Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong Kong
Accounting Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"),
accounting principles generally accepted in Hong Kong and the
disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.
These consolidated financial statements also comply with the
applicable disclosure provisions of the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on the GEM of the Exchange (the “GEM Listing
Rules”).

—RER

ITE (Holdings) Limited ([AAR]]) AFAESESEM
BB —REHREER AR - HEfitE ACricket
Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand
Cayman, KY1-1111, Cayman Islands @ 2N 2 & &
HE BB AR EESE M RE B NES LE
478 AMANEIECKDE -

RARHNBROREBHAERZMBR AT ([HR
Frl) GEM kT »

BE_ZT-_ZHE=-A=+"BLFENGEEUBR
REEFEARRREMBAR (BARBEEA A
£E]) -

ARABEB—REERAGE  EfNBARNEEZE
EE P HIEE34 -

EFESH R
(a) BREH

WERE M BRI DREMEBN BT BRI RELE
QRS - W EARBEEE S A SEMAPT
BEANERNEEMERELR  BEEHEAR
2E  BEAREGFTRAURTERTURHIHERER
E ° MWELSE MWK T A B R PT (GEMREF £
MR ([GEM_EMARAI ) #958 B RER 6 -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fre M A5 R Y At

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(@) Statement of compliance (continued)

The HKICPA has issued certain new and revised HKFRSs that
are first effective or available for early adoption for the current
accounting period of the group. Note 3 provides information on
any changes in accounting policies resulting from initial application
of these developments to the extent that they are relevant to the
group for the current and prior accounting periods reflected in the
consolidated financial statements.

A summary of the significant accounting policies adopted by the
group is set out below.

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements

The measurement basis used in the preparation of the
consolidated financial statements is the historical cost basis except
that financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are stated
at their fair values as explained in accounting policy set out in note
2(Kk).

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong Kong
dollars (“HK$"), except where indicated otherwise, which is also
the functional currency of the company.

The preparation of consolidated financial statements in conformity
with HKFRSs requires management to make judgements, estimates
and assumptions that affect the application of policies and
reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. The
estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical
experience and various other factors that are believed to be
reasonable under the circumstances, the results of which form the
basis of making the judgements about carrying values of assets
and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
Actual results may differ from these estimates.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

fre B 5 RaR Y AE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(b) Basis of preparation of the consolidated
financial statements (continued)

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects
only that period, or in the period of the revision and future periods
if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Judgements made by management in the application of HKFRSs
that have significant effect on these consolidated financial
statements and major sources of estimation uncertainty are
discussed in note 36.

(c) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are entities controlled by the group. The group
controls an entity when it is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the entity. When
assessing whether the group has power, only substantive rights
(held by the group and other parties) are considered.

An investment in a subsidiary is consolidated into the consolidated
financial statements from the date that control commences
until the date that control ceases. Intra-group balances and
transactions and any unrealised profits arising from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated
financial statements. Unrealised losses resulting from intra-group
transactions are eliminated in the same way as unrealised gains
but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

In the company’s statement of financial position, an investment in
a subsidiary is stated at cost less impairment losses (see note 2(l)
(ii). The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the company
on the basis of dividend received or receivable.

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZE=

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(d) Associate

An associate is an entity in which the group or company has
significant influence, but not control or joint control, over its
management, including participation in the financial and operating
policy decisions.

An investment in an associate is accounted for in the consolidated
financial statements under the equity method. Under the equity
method, the investment is initially recorded at cost, adjusted for
any excess of the group’s share of the acquisition-date fair values
of the associate’s identifiable net assets over the cost of the
investment (if any). Thereafter, the investment is adjusted for the
post acquisition change in the group’s share of the associate’s net
assets and any impairment loss relating to the investment (see
note 2(I)(ii)). Any acquisition-date excess over costs, the group’s
share of the post-acquisition, post tax results of the associate and
any impairment losses for the year are recognised in profit or loss,
whereas the group’s share of post-acquisition post tax items of the
investee's other comprehensive income is included in the group’s
other comprehensive income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

When the group’s share of losses exceeds its interest in the
associate, the group’s interest is reduced to nil and recognition of
further losses is discontinued except to the extent that the group
has incurred legal or constructive obligations or made payments
on behalf of the associate. For this purpose, the groups’ interest
in the associate is the carrying amount of the investment under
the equity method together with the group’s long-term interests
that in substance form part of the group’s net investment in the
associate.

Unrealised profits and losses resulting from transactions between
the group and its associate are eliminated to the extent of the
group’s interest in the associate, except where unrealised losses
provide evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred, in
which case they are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(e) Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of

(i) the aggregate of the fair value of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interest in
the acquiree and the fair value of the group’s previously
held equity interest in the acquiree; over

(ii) the net fair value of the acquiree’s identifiable assets and
liabilities measured as at the acquisition date.

When (ii) is greater than (i), then this excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a gain on a bargain purchase.

Goodwill is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill arising on a business combination is allocated to each
cash-generating unit, or groups of cash generating units, that is
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination and is
tested annually for impairment (see note 2(I)(ii)).

On disposal of a cash-generating unit during the year, any
attributable amount of purchased goodwill is included in the
calculation of the profit or loss on disposal.

(f)  Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are stated in the consolidated

statement of financial position at cost less accumulated
depreciation and impairment losses (see note 2(I)(ii)).

2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(f)  Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of property,

plant and equipment, less their estimated residual value, if any,

using the straight-line method over their estimated useful lives as

follows:

— Leasehold improvements Qver the shorter of the
lease terms and 4 years

— Furniture and fixtures 4 years
— Computer and other equipment 4 years
— Motor vehicles 5 years

— Right-of-use assets (see note 2(g))  over the lease terms

The useful life of an asset, its depreciation method and residual
value, if any, are reviewed annually.

Gains or losses arising from the retirement or disposal of an item
of property, plant and equipment are determined as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the
item and are recognised in profit or loss on the date of retirement
or disposal.

(g) Leases

At inception of a contract, the group assesses whether the
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease
if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration. Control
is conveyed where the customer has both the right to direct the
use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all of the
economic benefits from that use.

As a lessee
(A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019

Where the contract contains lease component(s) and non-lease
component(s), the group has elected not to separate non-lease
components and accounts for each lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease component for
all leases.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

(A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (continued)

At the lease commencement date, the group recognises a
right-of-use asset and a lease liability, except for short-term
leases that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of
low-value assets. When the group enters into a lease in respect
of a low-value asset, the group decides whether to capitalise the
lease on a lease-by-lease basis. The lease payments associated
with those leases which are not capitalised are recognised as an
expense on a systematic basis over the lease term.

Where the lease is capitalised, the lease liability is initially
recognised at the present value of the lease payments payable
over the lease term, discounted using the interest rate implicit in
the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, using a
relevant incremental borrowing rate. After initial recognition, the
lease liability is measured at amortised cost and interest expense
is calculated using the effective interest method. Variable lease
payments that do not depend on an index or rate are not included
in the measurement of the lease liability and hence are charged to
profit or loss in the accounting period in which they are incurred.

The right-of-use asset recognised when a lease is capitalised is
initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount
of the lease liability plus any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, and any initial direct costs incurred.
Where applicable, the cost of the right-of-use assets also includes
an estimate of costs to dismantle and remove the underlying
asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is
located, discounted to their present value, less any lease incentives
received. The right-of-use asset is subsequently stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses (see notes 2(f)
and 2(I)ii)).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

(A) Policy applicable from 1 April 2019 (continued)

The lease liability is remeasured when there is a change in future
lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, or there
is a change in the group’s estimate of the amount expected to
be payable under a residual value guarantee, or there is a change
arising from the reassessment of whether the group will be
reasonably certain to exercise a purchase, extension or termination
option. When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a
corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the
right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying
amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to zero.

The group presents right-of-use assets in ‘property, plant and
equipment’ and presents lease liabilities separately in the
statement of financial position.

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019

In the comparative period, as a lessee the group classified leases as
finance leases if the leases transferred substantially all the risks and
rewards of ownership to the group. Leases which did not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership to the group
were classified as operating leases.

Where the group acquired the use of assets under finance leases,
the amounts representing the fair value of the leased asset, or,
if lower, the present value of the minimum lease payments, of
such assets were recognised as property, plant and equipment
and the corresponding liabilities, net of finance charges, were
recorded as obligations under finance leases. Depreciation was
provided at rates which wrote off the cost or valuation of the
assets over the term of the relevant lease or, where it was likely
the group would obtain ownership of the asset, the life of the
asset, as set out in note 2(f). Impairment losses were accounted
for in accordance with the accounting policy as set out in note 2(l)
(if). Finance charges implicit in the lease payments were charged
to profit or loss over the period of the leases so as to produce an
approximately constant periodic rate of charge on the remaining
balance of the obligations for each accounting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(g) Leases (continued)

As a lessee (continued)

(B) Policy applicable prior to 1 April 2019 (continued)

Where the group had the use of assets held under operating
leases, payments made under the leases were charged to profit
or loss in equal instalments over the accounting periods covered
by the lease term, except where an alternative basis was more
representative of the pattern of benefits to be derived from the
leased asset. Lease incentives received were recognised in profit or
loss as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments made.

(h) Inventories

Inventories are carried at the lower of cost and net realisable
value.

Cost is calculated using the first-in, first-out cost formula and
comprises all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary
course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the
estimated costs necessary to make the sale.

When inventories are sold, the carrying amount of those
inventories is recognised as an expense in the period in which
the related revenue is recognised. The amount of any write-down
of inventories to net realisable value and all losses of inventories
are recognised as an expense in the period the write-down
or loss occurs. The amount of any reversal of any write-down
of inventories is recognised as a reduction in the amount of
inventories recognised as an expense in the period in which the
reversal occurs.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(i) Trade and other receivables

A receivable is recognised when the group has an unconditional
right to receive consideration. A right to receive consideration
is unconditional if only the passage of time is required before
payment of that consideration is due. If revenue has been
recognised before the group has an unconditional right to receive
consideration, the amount is presented as a contract asset (see
note 2(j)).

Receivables are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method less allowance for credit losses (see note 2(1)(i)).

()] Contract assets and contract liabilities

A contract asset is recognised when the group recognises revenue
(see note 2(u)) before being unconditionally entitled to the
consideration under the payment terms set out in the contract.
Contract assets are assessed for expected credit losses (“ECLs")
in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(I)(i) and are
reclassified to receivables when the right to the consideration has
become unconditional (see note 2(i)).

A contract liability is recognised when the customer pays
consideration before the group recognises the related revenue
(see note 2(u)). A contract liability would also be recognised if
the group has an unconditional right to receive consideration
before the group recognises the related revenue. In such cases, a
corresponding receivable would also be recognised (see note 2(i)).

For a single contract with the customer, either a net contract
asset or a net contract liability is presented. For multiple contracts,
contract assets and contract liabilities of unrelated contracts are
not presented on a net basis.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(k)  Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (“FVTPL") are
either investments classified as held for trading or designated as
at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition. These
investments are subsequently measured at fair value. Gains or
losses arising from changes in fair value of these investments are
recognised in profit or loss.

) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets

The group recognises a loss allowance for ECLs on the following
items:

- financial assets measured at amortised cost (including cash
and cash equivalents, pledged bank deposits, amount due
from an associate and trade and other receivables); and

- contract assets as defined in HKFRS 15 (see note 2(j));

Measurement of ECLs

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit
losses are measured as the present value of all expected cash
shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the
group in accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
group expects to receive).

The expected cash shortfalls are discounted using the following
discount rate where the effect of discounting is material:

- fixed-rate financial assets, trade and other receivables and
contract assets: effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition or an approximation thereof.

The maximum period considered when estimating ECLs is the
maximum contractual period over which the group is exposed to
credit risk.

In measuring ECLs, the group takes into account reasonable and
supportable information that is available without undue cost
or effort. This includes information about past events, current
conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Measurement of ECLs (continued)
ECLs are measured on either of the following bases:

- 12-month ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from possible default events within the 12 months after
the reporting date; and

- lifetime ECLs: these are losses that are expected to result
from all possible default events over the expected lives of
the items to which the ECL model applies.

Loss allowances for trade receivables and contract assets are
always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs. ECLs on
these financial assets are estimated using a provision matrix based
on the group’s historical credit loss experience, adjusted for factors
that are specific to the debtors and an assessment of both the
current and forecast general economic conditions at the reporting
date.

For all other financial assets, the group recognises a loss allowance
equal to 12-month ECLs unless there has been a significant
increase in credit risk of the financial instrument since initial
recognition, in which case the loss allowance is measured at an
amount equal to lifetime ECLs.

@ ITE (Holdings) Limited

2

HEZ-TF=A=+—HILFE NETIE)

FTESHEE (#)

() FEEFEBREERE (&)
)  RESRIARSHAENEEER (#)

HHEEEENTE (&)
EHMEEBERANTEENE :

— 12EAFEHEEEE : BHREBHERI12E
AR AERNBHEHMERNTERES
B Rk

- EEEMHNAMEEER : ERHUEE
EEEEER AR R FHMANA A 8
ERNEHMERNEHER -

BEHRWSFERANEENBERE ERERAN
EEBHRPNEREEERNSHENE - KRER
H ZEEREENEHNEEBERIREAEEN
BECEBRCREBREERETHE  RIZE
BAREE R R R B 5l R KB RE RS
EETTHE -

RAAAEMERTAMS  AEERBEFNI2
AARREEERNERREE  RIFESBTAGE
R B EREAREZIN - FLUBERT - B
BIRAERBEA RN AREEERN SR

=

= °



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk of a financial instrument has
increased significantly since initial recognition, the group compares
the risk of default occurring on the financial instrument assessed
at the reporting date with that assessed at the date of initial
recognition. In making this reassessment, the group considers
that a default event occurs when the borrower is unlikely to pay
its credit obligations to the group in full, without recourse by the
group to actions such as realising security (if any is held). The
group considers both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical experience and
forward-looking information that is available without undue cost
or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into account when
assessing whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition:

- failure to make payments of principal or interest on their
contractually due dates;

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in a financial
instrument's external or internal credit rating (if available);

- an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor; and

- existing or forecast changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have a significant
adverse effect on the debtor’s ability to meet its obligation
to the group.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk is performed
on either an individual basis or a collective basis. When the
assessment is performed on a collective basis, the financial
instruments are grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics,
such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

ECLs are remeasured at each reporting date to reflect changes in
the financial instrument’s credit risk since initial recognition. Any
change in the ECL amount is recognised as an impairment gain or
loss in profit or loss. The group recognises an impairment gain or
loss for all financial instruments with a corresponding adjustment
to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

Basis of calculation of interest income

Interest income recognised in accordance with note 2(u)(vi) is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset unless the financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on the amortised cost (i.e. the
gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset.

At each reporting date, the group assesses whether a financial
asset is credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit-impaired when
one or more events that have a detrimental impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

) Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Credit losses from financial instruments and contract assets
(continued)

Basis of calculation of interest income (continued)

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the
following observable events:

significant financial difficulties of the debtor;

- a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency in
interest or principal payments;

- it becoming probable that the borrower will enter into
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation;

- significant changes in the technological, market, economic
or legal environment that have an adverse effect on the
debtor; or

- the disappearance of an active market for a security
because of financial difficulties of the issuer.

Write-off policy

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset or contract asset is
written off (either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case when the
group determines that the debtor does not have assets or sources
of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to repay the
amounts subject to the write-off.

Subsequent recoveries of an asset that was previously written off
are recognised as a reversal of impairment in profit or loss in the
period in which the recovery occurs.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)

() Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

(i) Impairment of other assets

Internal and external sources of information are reviewed at
the end of each reporting period to identify indications that
the following assets may be impaired or, except in the case of
goodwill, an impairment loss previously recognised no longer
exists or may have decreased:

- property, plant and equipment, including right-of-use
assets;

- investment in an associate; and

- investment in a subsidiary in the company’s statement of
financial position.

If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is
estimated.

- Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of an asset is the greater of
its fair value less costs of disposal and value in use. In
assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount
rate that reflects current market assessments of time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset. Where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generates
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit).
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Significant accounting policies (continued)

0)

(ii)

(m)

Credit losses and impairment of assets
(continued)

Impairment of other assets (continued)
Recognition of impairment losses

An impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss if the
carrying amount of an asset, or the cash-generating unit
to which it belongs, exceeds its recoverable amount.
Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating
units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill allocated to the cash-generating unit (or
group of units) and then, to reduce the carrying amount
of the other assets in the unit (or group of units) on a pro
rata basis, except that the carrying value of an asset will
not be reduced below its individual fair value less costs of
disposal (if measurable) or value in use (if determinable).

Reversals of impairment losses

In respect of assets other than goodwill, an impairment
loss is reversed if there has been a favourable change in
the estimates used to determine the recoverable amount.
An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

A reversal of an impairment loss is limited to the asset’s
carrying amount that would have been determined had no
impairment loss been recognised in prior years. Reversals
of impairment losses are credited to profit or loss in the
year in which the reversals are recognised.

Income tax

Income tax for the year comprises current tax and movements in

deferred tax assets and liabilities. Current tax and movements in

deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised in profit or loss

except to the extent that they relate to items recognised in other

comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the

relevant amounts of tax are recognised in other comprehensive

income or equity, respectively.

fre B 5 RaR Y AE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for
the year, using tax rates enacted or substantively enacted at the
end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in
respect of previous years.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arise from deductible and taxable
temporary differences respectively, being the differences between
the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities for financial reporting
purposes and their tax bases. Deferred tax assets also arise from
unused tax losses and unused tax credits.

Apart from certain limited exceptions, all deferred tax liabilities,
and all deferred tax assets to the extent that it is probable that
future taxable profits will be available against which the asset
can be utilised, are recognised. Future taxable profits that may
support the recognition of deferred tax assets arising from
deductible temporary differences include those that will arise from
the reversal of existing taxable temporary differences, provided
those differences relate to the same taxation authority and the
same taxable entity, and are expected to reverse either in the
same period as the expected reversal of the deductible temporary
difference or in periods into which a tax loss arising from the
deferred tax asset can be carried back or forward. The same
criteria are adopted when determining whether existing taxable
temporary differences support the recognition of deferred tax
assets arising from unused tax losses and credits, that is, those
differences are taken into account if they relate to the same
taxation authority and the same taxable entity, and are expected
to reverse in a period, or periods, in which the tax loss or credit
can be utilised.

The limited exceptions to recognition of deferred tax assets and
liabilities are those temporary differences arising from goodwill
not deductible for tax purposes, the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit (provided
they are not part of a business combination), and temporary
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent
that, in the case of taxable differences, the group controls the
timing of the reversal and it is probable that the differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future, or in the case of deductible
differences, unless it is probable that they will reverse in the
future.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(m) Income tax (continued)

The amount of deferred tax recognised is measured based on
the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying
amount of the assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred
tax assets and liabilities are not discounted.

The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end
of each reporting period and is reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to
allow the related tax benefit to be utilised. Any such reduction
is reversed to the extent that it becomes probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available.

Additional income taxes that arise from the distribution of
dividends are recognised when the liability to pay the related
dividends is recognised.

Current tax balances and deferred tax balances, and movements
therein, are presented separately from each other and are not
offset. Current tax assets are offset against current tax liabilities,
and deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities, if the
company or the group has the legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and the following
additional conditions are met:

- in the case of current tax assets and liabilities, the group or
the company intends either to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously; or

- in the case of deferred tax assets and liabilities, if they
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation
authority on either:

- the same taxable entity; or

- different taxable entities, which, in each future
period in which significant amounts of deferred
tax liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or
recovered, intend to realise the current tax assets
and settle the current tax liabilities on a net basis
or realise and settle simultaneously.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

2

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(n)  Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and on hand,
demand deposits with banks and other financial institutions, and
short-term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible
into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, having been within three
months of maturity at acquisition. Cash and cash equivalents are
assessed for ECLs in accordance with the policy set out in note 2(l)

(i)
(o) Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are initially recognised at fair value.
Except for financial guarantee liabilities measured in accordance
with note 2(r)(i), trade and other payables are subsequently stated
at amortised cost unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.

(p) Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly
attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

(q) Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are measured initially at fair
value less transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Interest expense is recognised in
accordance with the group’s accounting policy for borrowing costs
(see note 2(t)).

(r)  Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities

(i) Financial guarantees issued

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the issuer (i.e.
the guarantor) to make specified payments to reimburse the
beneficiary of the guarantee (the “holder”) for a loss the holder
incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due
in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)

(r) Financial guarantees issued, provisions and
contingent liabilities (continued)

(i) Financial guarantees issued (continued)

Where the group issues a financial guarantee, the fair value of
the guarantee (being the transaction price by reference to fees
charged in an arm’s length transaction for similar services, unless
the fair value can otherwise be reliably estimated) is initially
recognised as deferred income within trade and other payables.
Where consideration is received or receivable for the issuance of
the guarantee, the consideration is recognised in accordance with
the group’s policies applicable to that category of asset. Where no
such consideration is received or receivable, an immediate expense
is recognised in profit or loss on initial recognition of any deferred
income.

(ii) Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the group has a legal or constructive obligation
arising as a result of a past event, it is probable that an outflow
of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation
and a reliable estimate can be made. Where the time value of
money is material, provisions are stated at the present value of the
expenditure expected to settle the obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible
obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed by the
occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events are
also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(s) Translation of foreign currencies

Foreign currency transactions during the year are translated
at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates.
Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies
are translated at the foreign exchange rates ruling at the end of
the reporting period. Exchange gains and losses are recognised in
profit or loss.

Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the foreign
exchange rates ruling at the transaction dates. Non-monetary
assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies that are
stated at fair value are translated using the foreign exchange rates
ruling at the dates the fair value was measured.

The results of foreign operations are translated into HK$ at the
exchange rates approximating the foreign exchange rates ruling
at the dates of the transactions. Items of statement of financial
positions are translated into HK$ at the closing foreign exchange
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period. The resulting
exchange differences are recognised in other comprehensive
income and accumulated separately in equity in the exchange

reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative amount of
the exchange differences relating to that foreign operation is
reclassified from equity to profit or loss when the profit or loss on
disposal is recognised.

(t) Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of an asset which necessarily takes a
substantial period of time to get ready for its intended use or sale
are capitalised as part of the cost of that asset. Other borrowing
costs are expensed in the period in which they are incurred.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(u) Revenue and other revenue

Income is classified by the group as revenue when it arises from
the sale of goods, the provision of services or the use by others
of the group’s assets under leases in the ordinary course of the
group’s business.

Revenue is recognised when control over a product or service
is transferred to the customer at the amount of promised
consideration to which the group is expected to be entitled,
excluding those amounts collected on behalf of third parties.
Revenue excludes value added tax or other sales taxes and is after
deduction of any trade discounts.

Further details of the group’s revenue and other revenue
recognition policies are as follows:

(i) Service revenue

Service revenue comprises revenue from smartcard systems, radio
frequency identification (“RFID”), information technology (“IT")
and related service contracts.

When the outcome of a service contract can be reasonably
measured, revenue from the contract is recognised progressively
over time using the cost-to-cost method, based on the proportion
of the actual costs incurred relative to the estimated total costs.

The likelihood of the group earning contractual bonuses for early
completion or suffering contractual penalties for late completion
are taken into account in making these estimates, such that
revenue is only recognised to the extent that it is highly probably
that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

When the outcome of the service contract cannot be reasonably
measured, revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(u) Revenue and other revenue (continued)
(ii) Income from maintenance and management services

Income from maintenance and management services is recognised
on a straight-line basis over the term of the maintenance and
management services contracts.

Income received or receivable in respect of maintenance services
which have not been completed on or before the end of the
reporting period are shown in the consolidated statement of
financial position as deferred maintenance income.

(iii) Sales of goods

Revenue is recognised at a point in time the control of the goods
has transferred and when the customer takes possession of and
accepts the products.

(iv) Government sponsorship income

Government sponsorship income is recognised when the group
complies with the conditions attaching to the sponsorship and the
income is received.

(v) Dividend income

Dividend income from listed investments is recognised when the
share price of the investment goes ex-dividend.

(vi) Interest income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using the effective
interest method. For credit-impaired financial assets, the effective
interest rate is applied to the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying
amount net of loss allowance) of the financial asset (see note 2(1)
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Significant accounting policies (continued)
(v) Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits and contributions to defined
contribution retirement plans

Salaries, annual bonuses, paid annual leave, contributions
to defined contribution retirement plans and the cost of
non-monetary benefits are accrued in the year in which the
associated services are rendered by employees. Where payment
or settlement is deferred and the effect would be material, these
amounts are stated at their present values.

(ii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised when, and only when, the
group demonstrably commits itself to terminate employment or
to provide benefits as a result of voluntary redundancy by having
a detailed formal plan which is without realistic possibility of
withdrawal.

(iii) Equity-settled share-based payments

For share options granted under the 2011 Scheme per note 28,
the fair value of share options granted to employees is recognised
as an employee cost with a corresponding increase in a share
option reserve within equity. The fair value is measured at grant
date using the binomial option pricing model, taking into account
the terms and conditions upon which the options were granted.
Where the employees have to meet vesting conditions before
becoming unconditionally entitled to the options, the total
estimated fair value of the options is spread over the vesting
period, taking into account the probability that the options will
vest.
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FTESHEE (#)

2  Significant accounting policies (continued) 2

(v) Employee benefits (continued)
(iii) Equity-settled share-based payments (continued)

During the vesting period, the number of share options that is
expected to vest is reviewed. Any resulting adjustment to the
cumulative fair value recognised in prior years is charged/credited
to the profit or loss for the year of the review, unless the original
employee expenses qualify for recognition as an asset, with a
corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve. On vesting
date, the amount recognised as an expense is adjusted to reflect
the actual number of options that vest (with a corresponding
adjustment to the share option reserve) except where forfeiture
is only due to not achieving vesting conditions that relate to
the market price of the company’s shares. The equity amount is
recognised in the share option reserve until either the options is
exercised (when it is transferred to the share premium account)
or the options expires (when it is released directly to accumulated
losses).

(w) Research and development costs

Expenditure on research and development activities is expensed in
profit or loss in the year in which it is incurred.

(x)  Related parties

(a) A person, or a close member of that person’s family, is
related to the group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control of the group;
(ii) has significant influence over the group; or
(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the

group or the group’s parent.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(x)  Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the group if any of the following
conditions applies:

(i) The entity and the group are members of the same group
(which means that each parent, subsidiary and fellow
subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or an associate or joint venture of a member of a
group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other
entity is an associate of the third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the group or an entity
related to the group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii)  The entity, or any member of the group of which it is a
part, provides key management personnel services to the
group or to the group’s parent.

Close members of the family of a person are those family
members who may be expected to influence, or be influenced by,
that person in their dealings with the entity.
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Significant accounting policies (continued)
(y)  Segment reporting

Operating segments, and the amounts of each segment item
reported in the consolidated financial statements, are identified
from the financial information provided regularly to the group’s
most senior executive management for the purposes of allocating
resources to, and assessing the performance of, the group’s
various lines of business and geographical locations.

Individually material operating segments are not aggregated for
financial reporting purposes unless the segments have similar
economic characteristics and are similar in respect of the nature
of products and services, the nature of production processes, the
type or class of customers, the methods used to distribute the
products or provide the services, and the nature of the regulatory
environment. Operating segments which are not individually
material may be aggregated if they share a majority of these
criteria.

Changes in accounting policies

The HKICPA has issued a new HKFRS, HKFRS 16, Leases, and a
number of amendments to HKFRSs that are first effective for the
current accounting period of the group.

Except for HKFRS 16, Leases, none of the developments have had
a material effect on how the group’s results and financial position
for the current or prior periods have been prepared or presented.
The group has not applied any new standard or interpretation that
is not yet effective for the current accounting period.
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Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases

HKFRS 16 replaces HKAS 17, Leases, and the related
interpretations, HK(IFRIC) 4, Determining whether an arrangement
contains a lease, HK(SIC) 15, Operating leases — incentives, and
HK(SIC) 27, Evaluating the substance of transactions involving the
legal form of a lease. It introduces a single accounting model for
lessees, which requires a lessee to recognise a right-of-use asset
and a lease liability for all leases, except for leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less (“short-term leases”) and leases of
low-value assets. The lessor accounting requirements are brought
forward from HKAS 17 substantially unchanged.

HKFRS 16 also introduces additional qualitative and quantitative
disclosure requirements which aim to enable users of the financial
statements to assess the effect that leases have on the financial
position, financial performance and cash flows of an entity.

The group has initially applied HKFRS 16 as from 1 April 2019. The
group has elected to use the modified retrospective approach and
has therefore recognised the cumulative effect of initial application
as an adjustment to the opening balance of equity at 1 April 2019.
Comparative information has not been restated and continues to
be reported under HKAS 17.

Further details of the nature and effect of the changes to previous
accounting policies and the transition options applied are set out
below:

(i) New definition of a lease

The change in the definition of a lease mainly relates to the
concept of control. HKFRS 16 defines a lease on the basis of
whether a customer controls the use of an identified asset for a
period of time, which may be determined by a defined amount of
use. Control is conveyed where the customer has both the right to
direct the use of the identified asset and to obtain substantially all
of the economic benefits from that use.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)
(i) New definition of a lease (continued)

The group applies the new definition of a lease in HKFRS 16 only
to contracts that were entered into or changed on or after 1 April
2019. For contracts entered into before 1 April 2019, the group
has used the transitional practical expedient to grandfather the
previous assessment of which existing arrangements are or contain
leases. Accordingly, contracts that were previously assessed as
leases under HKAS 17 continue to be accounted for as leases
under HKFRS 16 and contracts previously assessed as non-lease
service arrangements continue to be accounted for as executory
contracts.

(i) Lessee accounting and transitional impact

HKFRS 16 eliminates the requirement for a lessee to classify leases
as either operating leases or finance leases, as was previously
required by HKAS 17. Instead, the group is required to capitalise
all leases when it is the lessee, including leases previously classified
as operating leases under HKAS 17, other than those short-term
leases and leases of low-value assets which are exempt. As far
as the group is concerned, these newly capitalised leases are
primarily in related to property, plant and equipment as disclosed
in note 31. For an explanation of how the group applies lessee
accounting, see note 2(g).

At the date of transition to HKFRS 16 (i.e. 1 April 2019), the group
determined the length of the remaining lease terms and measured
the lease liabilities for the leases previously classified as operating
leases at the present value of the remaining lease payments,
discounted using the relevant incremental borrowing rates at 1
April 2019. The weighted average of the incremental borrowing
rates used for determination of the present value of the remaining
lease payments was 4%.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)
(ii) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (continued)

To ease the transition to HKFRS 16, the group applied the
following recognition exemption and practical expedients at the
date of initial application of HKFRS 16:

- when measuring the lease liabilities at the date of initial
application of HKFRS 16, the group applied a single
discount rate to a portfolio of leases with reasonably
similar characteristics (such as leases with a similar
remaining lease term for a similar class of underlying asset
in a similar economic environment).

The following table reconciles the operating lease commitments as
disclosed in note 31 as at 31 March 2019 to the opening balance
for lease liabilities recognised as at 1 April 2019:

3

B BRER (&)
ERPBREEA S 165EE (A)

(ii) AEAGTRETENBEZE (B)
REREBUBEREEIE16FBE - AEER
BREREEN B HREERE165EE HERA T
RERRAITEETE

- RABERERERYBRELERNE165%
EENEEAER  AEEHABSEH
UEHBHNHEHASERE—RRX (fln
ERURERRE TREUD BENHBEEE
RAESTEMBLNESR) -

TRARZZE-NAF=ZA=+HLEHEHRE
(RIFE31) BER - NEMA—HERAEER
B B A SR e B

1 April 2019
—ZT-NFMA—A
HK$#E T
Operating lease commitments at 31 March 2019 —NF=ZA=+—BHEEHRERIE 3,039,112
Add: lease payments for the additional periods where — fi : ZREE & B HEF A T{EER BB
the group considers it reasonably certain that MEESNAMTEE S
it will exercise the extension options 90,454
3,129,566
Less: total future interest expenses B ARRF B a5 (97,377)
Present value of remaining lease payments, discounted AR == — AE00 A — H B EIE 15 5 =&
using the incremental borrowing rate at 1 April 2019 BtIREV& FHEENZIRE 3,032,189
Add: finance lease liabilities recognised —NWEF=A=+—H
as at 31 March 2019 EEANMEHEARE 2,996,956
Total lease liabilities recognised at 1 April 2019 R-E—hFNA—BERRNHEaEASE 6,029,145
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

3  Changes in accounting policies (continued) 3 2 BEEF (&)

HKFRS 16, Leases (continued) BEBMBRELELE165HE (F)

(ii) Lessee accounting and transitional impact (continued) (ii) EBEASTHEEFERBEZE (&)

The right-of-use assets in relation to leases previously classified as HAERN O EAKEHENHEFANTAEEED
operating leases have been recognised at an amount equal to the REERH THEABERRASE  B’R=-2Z—N
amount recognised for the remaining lease liabilities, adjusted by FZR=T—BUBKKAKRERNHES @O EM
the amount of any prepaid or accrued lease payments relating to B SEAHE N RS IELAE -

that lease recognised in the statement of financial position at 31

March 2019.

So far as the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 16 on leases BLER ng\}’éﬁﬁ%iﬁiyﬁﬁu%mﬁﬂﬁm DEREE
previously classified as finance leases is concerned, the group HENHENTEMS @ BRERGRITEBIN -
is not required to make any adjustments at the date of initial K%lﬂﬂﬁ’\élﬁﬁﬁ‘%i&iﬁﬂ'l%16%)%%??]?@}3’5%%
application of HKFRS 16, other than changing the captions for HEAEREMFAE - At - ZZEBEIATHRE
the balances. Accordingly, instead of “obligations under finance BEIMEMELEHAE]  HEREEEENL
leases”, these amounts are included within “lease liabilities”, and MERABEERNAFTAEEE - B Y&
the depreciated carrying amount of the corresponding leased WAL o

assets is identified as right-of-use assets. There is no impact on the
opening balance of equity.

The following table summarises the impacts of the adoption of TRPBARANE BN BREENF16REAREEES
HKFRS 16 on the group’s consolidated statement of financial PRI R E -
position:
Carrying  Capitalisation of Carrying
amount at operating lease amount at
31 March 2019 contracts 1 April 2019
RZZT—NF RZE-hF
=A=+—H KERE MA—H
HRREE GRERE Y BR E (B
HK$% 7T HK$%E 7T HKS$E T

Line items in the consolidated THRME B EREER
statement of financial position  ZE163 &M

impacted by the adoption RETBHEMRRE

of HKFRS 16:
Property, plant and equipment M - BB REE 3,716,138 3,032,189 6,748,327
Total non-current assets FREEELE 3,716,138 3,032,189 6,748,327
Leases liabilities (current) HEBE ORE) 749,526 2,165,285 2,914,811
Total current liabilities REEEAEE 17,432,381 2,165,285 19,597,666
Net current assets REEEFE 10,455,263 (2,165,285) 8,289,978
Total assets less current liabilities #&ERRE A& 14,171,401 866,904 15,038,305
Lease liabilities (non-current) HEaE GERg) 2,247,430 866,904 3,114,334
Total non-current liabilities EREBEEEE 2,247,430 866,904 3,114,334
Net assets EEEE 11,923,971 - 11,923,971

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

Changes in accounting policies (continued)
HKFRS 16, Leases (continued)
(iii) Impact on financial result and cash flows of the group

After the initial recognition of right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities as at 1 April 2019, the group as a lessee is required to
recognise interest expense accrued on the outstanding balance of
the lease liability, and the depreciation of the right-of-use asset,
instead of the previous policy of recognising rental expenses
incurred under operating leases on a straight-line basis over the
lease term. This results in a positive impact on the reported profit
from operations in the group’s consolidated statement of profit
or loss, as compared to the results if HKAS 17 had been applied
during the year.

In the statement of cash flows, the group, as a lessee, is required
to split rentals paid under capitalised leases into their capital
element and interest element (see note 26). These elements
are classified as financing cash outflows, similar to how leases
previously classified as finance leases under HKAS 17 were
treated, rather than as operating cash outflows, as was the case
for operating leases under HKAS 17. Although total cash flows
are unaffected, the adoption of HKFRS 16 therefore results in
a significant change in presentation of cash flows within the
statement of cash flow.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

iy 2

4 Revenue 4

Revenue represents the net sales value of goods supplied to s & HE TR AF e &IR 4 AR 75 B0 F I

customers and revenue from services rendered. The amount of o FAERBR/RENEESBWENT :
each significant category of revenue recognised in revenue during
the year is as follows:
2020 — == 2019 —E—N4F
HK$#E T HKS$E T
Provision of smartcard systems, RIFZERES -
RFID and IT services S SEH R & & AR RS
— Service revenue — PRig W 34,969,864 14,044,103
— Income from maintenance services — RERIELA 9,140,379 10,325,713
— Sales of service related products — SHERRTSIERAE 234,963 421,547
44,345,206 24,791,363
Other revenue and other gains/(losses), 5 HtlhzxREM Bz (EE)
net
2020 —E—=F 2019 == —NF
HKS$# T HKS$# 7T
Other revenue H s
Management service income BRI WA 480,000 =
Government sponsorship income B E B A 422,059 128,000
Compensation income mEWA 86,800 -
Interest income F B A 74,237 30,105
Dividend income from listed securities FHESEKRERA - 43,476
Exchange gain, net M 3 2 B - 2,320
Sundry income HAb WA 6,080 -
1,069,176 203,901
Other gains/(losses), net Hitghas (&8)
Fair value gain/(loss) on financial assets FHBRBEERA N EEEN
at fair value through profit or loss SREENARERE /(EE) 28,812 (108,947)
Loss on disposal of financial assets HEFBIERRRARELREDN
at fair value through profit or loss eRMEESE (6,154) (133,331)
22,658 (242,278)
1,091,834 (38,377)

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Profit/(loss) before taxation

Profit/(loss) before taxation is arrived at after charging/(crediting):

=

=

F2=

B PR At

ZZFE=PF=+—HILFE CABTIIE)

A

6 BRBiADER A (EE)

BRBAER(BE) B GIA)

2020 —ZF—ZF 2019 —Z—N4&F
HKS$# T HK$7"P§7|:
(@)  Finance costs (@)  BIFBKA
Interests on loans from related parties FAE A TEREFE 664,007 452,691
Finance charges on lease liabilities HEBENIEER 194,458 57,368
858,465 510,059
(b)  Staff costs (including directors’ (b) EBIRK (BRE==EMe):
remuneration) *:
Salaries, wages and other benefits e LB REMER 25,435,545 15,418,174
Retirement scheme contributions RONGH B ER (FiEE27)
(note 27) 953,840 537,013
Equity-settled share-based payments REHEE A & LARR (D B BN 3R
(note 28) (FzE28) - 567,000
26,389,385 16,522,187
(¢ Other items: () HEfbIER :
Auditor’s remuneration Z RN < 399,000 392,000
Cost of inventories sold ## FEHEK A 6,291,617 5,266,107
Depreciation e
— owned property, plant and equipment - BEYE  BEREE 307,989 352,515
— right-of-use assets #*# — (F A E 2,897,223 -
Development costs * L N 737,172 1,237,277
Exchange loss, net ME 3 5183 (B 85,506 -
Loss on disposal of property, HEMZE - WE
plant and equipment KRR EREE 32,330 -
Provisions (note 24) B (fsE24) 185,634 774,508
Expense relating to short-term leases EHAE RMEEE
and leases of low-value assets BEHEMAX 45,760 -
Minimum lease payments for lease BRIRBEB G LERIE 175
previously classified as operating FRIGREAKEHE
leases under HKAS 17 ### X KA &g
— hire of properties o/ EiE = 1,157,340
— hire of office equipment — RElIEERG = 48,120
Reversal of unused provisions (note 24) RENABE DB (MiE24) (610,049) (642,896)
Write-off of inventories #* T & s 3,147 6,928

ANNUAL REPORT 2019/20 % #
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

6 Profit/(loss) before taxation (continued)

##

###

Development costs included staff costs of HK$465,175 (2019:
HK$1,082,649), which is also disclosed separately in note 6(b).

Cost of inventories sold included write-off of inventories of HK$3,147
(2019: HK$6,928), which is also disclosed separately in note 6(c).

The group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
April 2019 to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases which
were previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. The
depreciated carrying amount of the finance lease assets which were
previously included in property, plant and equipment is also identified
as a right-of-use asset. After initial recognition of right-of-use assets
at 1 April 2019, the group as a lessee is required to recognise the
depreciation of right-of-use assets, instead of the previously policy
of recognising rental expenses incurred under operating leases on
a straight-line basis over the lease term. Under this approach, the
comparative information is not restated (See note 3).

7 Income tax

(a)

The group is subject to income tax on an entity basis on
profits arising in or derived from the jurisdictions in which
subsidiaries within the group are domiciled and operated.

During the year ended 31 March 2020, no provision for
Hong Kong Profits Tax was made as companies within
the group incurred losses for tax purpose or has sufficient
tax losses brought forward to set off estimated assessable
profits (2019: HK$Nil).

No provision for income tax in The People’s Republic of
China (the “PRC"”) and Macao have been made as the
group did not have any assessable profit for taxation
purpose in the PRC or Macao during the year ended 31
March 2020 (2019: HK$Nil).

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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7 Income tax (continued)

(b)

(loss) at applicable tax rate:

7

Reconciliation between income tax and accounting profit/

Fi#

(b)

SH (%)

RSB AR (BE) /@R RE
HFEET ¢

2020 —E_-FHF 2019 ==—h5F
HKS$#E T HK$HB 7T
Profit/(loss) before taxation BERER (EE) 1,023,284 (3,455,685)
Notional tax on profit/(loss) before taxation, BBiATEF] /(EE) £ 16.5%
calculated at the applicable tax T—NF 16.5%)
rate of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%) HERATRERBRRIE 168,841 (570,188)
Tax effect of different tax rates P /B8 A A &3 5 B =R
on subsidiaries operating in other TROBREEE (HiE)
jurisdictions (Note) (28,188) (34,603)
Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AR E AR 2 245,552 298,532
Tax effect of non-taxable income BERBIRA BT 78 (52,276) (112,614)
Tax effect of prior year's tax losses utilised ) 2K HE & 18 M B 5 28 (583,845) -
Tax effect of temporary RERNEREZENTETE
differences not recognised (35,675) (165,316)
Tax effect of unused tax RIER R AREATIE
losses not recognised EIENT SR 2 285,591 584,189
Income tax PS5t - -
Note: MaE
The applicable tax rate of the company and those subsidiaries that are ARARENRBEETMOMBERRANERABXR16.5%

incorporated in Hong Kong is 16.5% (2019: 16.5%). The applicable tax rates of

the subsidiaries of the company incorporated outside Hong Kong are as follows:

i ITE (China) Limited is subjected to tax rate of 25% (2019: 25%).

ii. ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada is subject to progressive tax rates from 3%

10 12% (2019: 3% to 12%).

(ZZ—NF : 16.5%) ' MEFEEBZMOM B R RAE

RBi=MT

i EEMRERRAFAERA AN EA25% (=
T—NE 1 25%) °

R ORPY) AR AR ER R A3%E
12% (ZF—NF : 3%E12%) °
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

7  Income tax (continued) 7  FiEH (&)

() Deferred tax assets () EEMIBEEE

At 31 March 2020, the group has not recognised deferred RZZT=_ZTF=A=+—H AR AENERTH
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of approximately MEFNBEBREAN L TETE  AEBERSHH
HK$32,335,000 (2019: HK$35,111,000) due to the uncertainty TH SR M R HE SR YR AE T 18 & EE 49 /332,335,0007%8
of the related tax benefits being realised through future taxable T (ZZF—AF : 35,111,000/87T) ° RE)ARIIEE
profits. The unused tax losses of approximately HK$Nil (2019: BHZETT (ZZT—NF : 976,000/87T) A A LA
HK$976,000) can be carried forward for offset against the HEEERNFERARARAFHERTES - MHE
taxable profits of subsequent years for five years following the 518 RI AT K A B4 o

first profit-making year. Other unused tax losses may be carried
forward indefinitely.

(d) Deferred tax liabilities (d) EZEFHEBEEE
At 31 March 2020, there were no significant unrecognised RZZTZZTF=A=+—H WREEMEALRE
deferred tax liabilities (2019: HK$Nil). RELHRIBEE (ZZE—NF : THT) °

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

8 Directors’ remuneration 8 EEM<
Directors’ remuneration disclosed pursuant to the GEM Listing RIRGEM ETH 55 Bl R &8 2 8l {551 225383 1K R R M
Rules and section 383 of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance is EEMEFBOT
as follows:
2020 —EIEF
Salaries,
allowances  Retirement Equity-settled
Directors’  and benefits scheme  Termination share-based
fees in kind contributions benefits Sub-total  payments Total
RiEEE
Fé 2ER DY)
EzHe ENAE RAGHEAR RIEFIE BHes  RERAX &t
HKS# 7 HKS# 7 HKS#% 7 HKS#% 7 HKS% 7 HKS# 7 HKS# 7
Executive directors WTES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent e 241,500 1,662,960 18,000 14,993 1,937,453 - 1,937,453
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BEEEE 241,500 476,292 18,000 - 735,792 - 735,792
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah e 61,500 - - - 61,500 - 61,500
544,500 2,139,252 36,000 14,993 2,734,745 - 2,734,745
Independent non-executive diectors B EHTES
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen (note) AL (Hi) 147,600 - - - 147,600 - 147,600
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony MEHLE 61,500 - - - 61,500 - 61,500
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew BRBEE 61,500 - - - 61,500 - 61,500
270,600 - - - 270,600 - 270,600
Total & 815,100 2,139,252 36,000 14,993 3,005,345 - 3,005,345
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

8 Directors’ remuneration (continued) 8 EEMe (#)
2019 —E-hEF
Salaries,
allowances Retirement Equity-settled
Directors’  and benefits scheme share-based
fees inkind  contributions Sub-total payments Total
PRIELE
e 2R PABR 7
i REWME  RIGEIRR Bires ERR A
HK$#TT HK$H T HK$H# T HK$HTT HK$ATT HK$#TT
Executive directors HITES
Mr. Lau Hon Kwong, Vincent gk 240,000 1,662,960 18,000 1,920,960 27,000 1,947,960
Mr. Cheng Kwok Hung BT A 240,000 455,400 17,908 713,308 27,000 740,308
Mr. Liu Hoi Wah EES 60,000 - - 60,000 27,000 87,000
540,000 2,118,360 35,908 2,694,268 81,000 2,775,268
Independent non-executive BIUFNTES
directors
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen (note) FEREL (FE) 144,000 - - 144,000 27,000 171,000
Mr. Kam Hau Choi, Anthony HEHELE 60,000 - - 60,000 27,000 87,000
Mr. Wong Wang Fat, Andrew ~ &ZR%EL 60,000 - - 60,000 27,000 87,000
264,000 - - 264,000 81,000 345,000
Total S5t 804,000 2,118,360 35,908 2,958,268 162,000 3,120,268
Note: MEsE -
Dr. Lee Peng Fei, Allen, an independent non-executive director of the company, KRB BYIFATEZTBERBELIER T _EFRA T+
passed away on 15 May 2020. A BHEHE -

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

9  Individuals with highest emoluments 9 EEHAL
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments, two (2019: RAUSEEFHALH WL (ZT—AF : M)
two) individuals are directors whose emoluments are disclosed in BEE  FENMEEHRWES A= (=ZF
note 8. The aggregate of the emoluments in respect of the other —NEF : =f) RaFATHMSEENT

three (2019: three) individuals are as follows:

2020 —B=FF 2019 ZZ— N5
HK$# T HK$B 7T
Salaries and other emoluments %}’%é&ﬁﬁiﬂ@ﬂ% 1,964,675 1,828,976
Retirement scheme contributions RORET 3R 54,000 54,000
Equity-settled share-based payments HRAEAE B LARR (0 /R B R AT R - 150,000
2,018,675 2,032,976
The emoluments of the three (2019: three) individuals with the = (ZE—NF: =) e ALTHBHESN T
highest emoluments are within the following band: Tﬁwjﬁgl :
2020 —E=ZF 2019 ZF—1F
Number of individuals Number of individuals
ALTHE ATEE
HK$Nil to HK$ 1,000,000 ZHIT — 1,000,00077C 3 3
10 Dividends 10 BE
The board of directors do not recommend the payment of any HE_T-_TR-T-NF=ZA=1+—HIEFE
dividend in respect of the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. %%ﬁT\L%AﬁéE@H&E °
11 Earning/(loss) per share 11 SRER (FHE)
The calculation of basic earning/(loss) per share is based on the FRERAF (BB) THRA R BEE AREET)
profit attributable to owners of the company of HK$1,023,284 1,023,284 7L (ZZF— N4 : [E5183,455,685/87T)
(2019: a loss of HK$3,455,685) and the weighted average of RERE T E BRI T R% 8925,508,000
925,508,000 (2019: 925,508,000) ordinary shares in issue during % (ZZ—h 4 : 925,508,0000%) @ st&E T :
the year, calculated as follows:
2020 —B=FF 2019 ZE— N5
Issued ordinary shares and weighted BT EER R EER
average number of ordinary shares 15 2 925,508,000 925,508,000
As the company does not have any potential dilutive ordinary BE-—T-TR-T- hE=A=+—AIEEL
shares during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019, basic /@Eﬂﬁﬁﬁ%ﬁﬁﬁ  HEARBERT S (EE)
and diluted earning/(loss) per share are the same. 18 -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

12 Segment reporting 12 oEHRE
(@) Operating segment information (a) EEHILER
The group conducts its business within one business segment, AEEWKERF—EEESE - NEERES
smartcard systems, RFID, IT services and related services. All of the BTSRRI R BB RS A RABRAARTS - FTE RS
group’s products and services are of a similar nature and subject 82 mm MR A AL E - ke RER o W
to similar risk and returns. Accordingly, the group’s operating It REERKE RS FE—LESHE ©

activities are attributable to a single operating segment.

(b) Geographical information (b) &R
The group’s operations are principally located in Hong Kong and REEFEEFERRFILEET
Macao.
The group’s revenue from external customers and information REBEEINE P WS RIEREE E R i D # a0
about its non-current assets by geographical location are detailed ™
below:
Revenue from external customers Non-current assets
HIEF = FERBEE
2020 —ZE-FHF 2019 —ZE—NF 2020 —E_-FF 2019 —ZE—NF
HK$#% T HK$E7T HK$#% T HK$# 7T
Hong Kong 55 43,203,552 21,498,921 3,826,567 3,715,933
Macao JERFT 1,141,654 3,292,442 - 205
44,345,206 24,791,363 3,826,567 3,716,138
(¢) Information about major customers () EHEETEEFER
For the year ended 31 March 2020, there were two (2019: two) BE_Z-_ZF=-A=+—HIEFE WU (=ZZF
customers who accounted for over 10% of total revenue of —NF: M) BERFREHAEEN LK BB
the group with aggregate amount of HK$35,453,016 (2019: 10% @ ZEEB X P W /35,453,016 7T (=
HK$11,122,445). T—NEF 1 11,122,445%7T) ©

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

13  Property, plant and equipment 13 Y% BERRE
Properties Computer
leased for Leasehold Furniture and other Motor
ownuse improvements and fixtures  equipment vehicles Total
HEkEA HE R
EES NE%EE HHREE AR RE EH
HK$ 7T HK$ T HK$ BT HK$ BT HK$ BT HK$ BT
Cost: B
At 1 April 2018 - \¥mA—-A = 493,556 285,210 915,932 = 1,694,698
Additions hE = 380,250 15,900 76,908 3,395,915 3,868,973
Disposals HE = - (8,422) (143,069) - (151,491)
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1-H - 873,806 292,688 849,771 3,395,915 5,412,180
Impact on initial application BB RS %S
of HKFRS 16 (note (a)) 16502 (i3a) 3,032,189 = = = - 3032189
At 1 April 2019 “Z-NEmA-A 3,032,189 873,806 292,683 849,771 3,395,915 8,444,369
Additions NE = = 1,900 34,031 288,645 324,576
Disposals HE (1,133,929) = (39,540) (102,704) (40,413) (1,316,586)
At 31 March 2020 RZZ-FF=A=1-H 1,898,260 873,806 255,048 781,098 3,644,147 7,452,359
Accumulated depreciation: RiHE
At 1 April 2018 - \&mA—H - 493,556 277,410 724,052 - 1,495,018
Charge for the year FRfE - 34,581 4114 94,524 219,29 352,515
Eliminated on disposals HERTHE - - (8,422) (143,009) - (151,491)
At31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019  R=Z-h&=A=1+-A
R=Z-NEMA—-R - 528,137 273,102 675,507 219,296 1,696,042
Charge for the year FRiTE 2,194,435 190,125 7,829 95,080 717,743 3,205,212
Eliminated on disposals HERTH (1,125,135) - (39,540) (102,704) (8,083) (1,275,462)
At 31 March 2020 RZZZFTE=A=1—H 1,069,300 718,262 241,391 667,883 928,956 3,625,792
Net carrying amount: REE:
At 31 March 2020 RZZE-ZF=f=1—H 828,960 155,544 13,657 113,215 2,715,191 3,826,567
At 1 April 2019 RZZ-NFMA-R 3,032,189 345,669 19,586 174,264 3,176,619 6,748,327
At 31 March 2019 RZE-NE=A=1-H - 345,669 19,586 174,264 3,176,619 3,716,138
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HEZ-TF=A=+—HILFE NETIE)

13 Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Note:

(a) The group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified
retrospective method and adjusted the opening balance at 1 April 2019
to recognise right-of-use assets relating to leases which were previously
classified as operating lease under HKAS 17 (See note 3).

Right-of-use assets

The analysis of the net carrying amount of right-of-use assets by class
of underlying asset is as follows:

13

M - BERRE (R)

REBFBEETEWEEREREBHBRE
ERIFE165  WABRR-_T-—AFHA—BHH
AR AN RBEETEGHERE 17RO B
RICEHENEERBNEREAE (RHTFE3) -

EAEEE

ZEMEERR B D MEREEEREENT

31 March 2020 1 April 2019
—¥-¥F=A=+-A —F-AFWA-A
HK$ %t HK$ 7T

Properties leased for own use, carried at HEFEERNME  UITEKAE
depreciated cost (note (b)) F7 (BtaE(b)) 828,960 3,032,189
Motor vehicles, carried at depreciated cost (note (c)) /& » AT ERKATIR (HirE(c)) 2,655,370 3,176,619
3,484,330 6,208,808

Details of maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out in note 22.
(b) Properties leased for own use

The group has obtained the right to use properties through tenancy
agreement. The leases typically run for a period of 2 years with an
option to renew the lease when all terms are renegotiated. None of the
leases includes contingent rentals.

(c) Motor vehicles for own use

Prior to date of initial application of HFKRS 16 at 1 April 2019, the
group recognised leased assets and lease liabilities in relation to leases
that were classified finance leases under HKAS 17. The assets were
presented in property, plant and equipment whereas the liabilities were
presented as obligations under the finance leases.

The group leases motor vehicles under leases expiring from 2 to
5 years. At the end of the lease term the group has the option to
purchase the leased motor vehicles at a price deemed to be a bargain
purchase option. None of the leases includes contingent rentals.

During the year, additions to right-of-use assets were HK$213,869. This

amount related to the capitalised lease payments payable for motor

vehicles under new lease agreements.

ITE (Holdings) Limited

()

HEEESOT RO AERNITE2227)

HEFEERNYE

AEERBAEEBRESERMERN  BE
HR—RAMF  TEERAVHERRENE
ERRMEXNREE - ZFHOB T REEAR

BRARE

RZZ-NFUNA-BERERBEBHUBRELE
BIZE 165881 - AEENIBEEEGERFETH
BREMEENHEEEREEABIERRE
HE - BEHZIRME  BERRE MERE
2 ABMEREARE -

AEEBEIEHNRE-—RAMELF - REEH
BRE - ARBEEAUREABEEEEUBA
HETE - ZEBOHTEEEFMXAEEL -

FA - FMENEREEER213,8698 T ItE
BARBNAEHEANNENEMBELE -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

14 Interest in an associate 14 HBEAQATER

2020 —E-FF 2019 —2—hF

HK$#E T HK$HB 7T
Unlisted investment, at cost IEETIRE () 2,639 2,639
Accumulated share of losses FE(E 25T EE (2,639) (2,639)

Particulars of the group’s associate at 31 March 2020 and 2019 RIZE-ZER-Z-NAF=A=+—H FEHH
are as follows: BE AR ERT ¢
Place of
incorporation/ Percentage of
registration and equity attributable
Name operations to the group Principal activities
I/ EER AEBATL
% REBEE BEADL TEXK
Indirect
L3
2020 2019
—ECEF —ThEF
Precision Instrument and Hong Kong 25.13% 25.13% Provision of custom-developed high-
Optics Limited B end laser scanning microscopes
IEARHER AR BERRER PR R NS
The associate is indirectly held by the group through a subsidiary BN T BB A AR B ARERESE -

of the company.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

14 Interest in an associate (continued) 14 HEQTER (F)
Summarised financial information in respect of the group’s unlisted AREERIE EHEBERARNMBEHENAT !

associate is as follows:

Precision Instrument and Optics Limited IRARFEBRA A

2020 —E=-FF 2019 —ZT—NF

HKS$# T HK$#E T
Non-current assets EMBEE 29,583 10,645
Current assets mBEE 49,337 2,194,899
Current liabilities mEB B & 400,000 2,401,708
Net liabilities BEFE (321,080) (196,164)
Revenue Wzs 2,150,000 284,901
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive (B18)mHREMER
(expense)/income (ZH),/ WA saza (11,316) 11,332
Shared by the group: RE B E
(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive (B18)/HH kRt 2R
(expense)/income (Note) (), WA 458 (MizE) = =
Net assets BEFE = -
Note:  The group has not recognised a share of result of the associate for the Mzt : BARLBERARRSZERTHEL  BAEERSF
year as it has been limited to HK$Nil because the accumulated share A EEREELEE REBRIIRNRES
of losses is greater than the interest in this associate. The unrecognised T MERRERELEBERBERR_E_Z
share of losses for the year and accumulated share of losses up to FZA=T—HHEGREED RA2,84475 7T
and as at 31 March 2020 is approximately HK$2,844 and HK$49,364 F49364B T (ZE—NE : BIEEMNREHE
respectively (2019: share of profits and accumulated losses of HK$2,848 B85 5l 52,8487 7T )2 46,5208 7T) °

and HK$46,520 respectively)

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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15 Goodwill 15 BEE
HK$%& 7T
Cost A
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 JJL/\\_%—/\EP_TUE]—EI ZE-NAF=A=+—8 -
and 31 March 2020 —NEFONA—BER=-Z_FF=A=+—H 9,507,923
Accumulated amortisation RGN
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 R=ZZF—N\FW™A—A —hE=A=+—8 -
and 31 March 2020 —ﬂfﬁﬂlﬂ—ﬁ)}i:ij:?iiﬂ =+—H 3,169,307
Accumulated impairment losses E2REEEE
At 1 April 2018, 31 March 2019, 1 April 2019 ﬁéfﬁ—}\fﬁﬂlﬂ—ﬁ E-NF=A=+—H -
and 31 March 2020 —NFONA—BER=-ZE-_FF=A=+—H 6,338,616
Carrying amount FREE
At 31 March 2020 RZE_EF=A=+—H =
At 31 March 2019 R=-E—hE=A=+—H =
Inventories 16 #®FE
2020 —E-FF 2019 == — N5
HKS$#% T HK$A 7T
Raw materials Rtk 1,166,529 835,921
Work in progress TR 364,736 314,033
Finished goods 2K @ 258,838 198,038
1,790,103 1,347,992

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

/T\

B PR At

BE_Z-ZF=A=t+—HILFE CAVETIIE)
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w3

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

17 Trade and other receivables

HEZ-TF=A=+—HILFE NETIE)

17 ESRHEHMEKRFE

2020 —E-ZF 2019 —F—hF

HKS$#E T HK$# 7T

Trade receivables B 5 EWGRIE 6,995,656 6,330,044
Contract assets (note 25(a)) AHBE (Mizx25(@)) 1,064,762 1,519,956
Other receivables H fth fE U 5RE 8,046 4,270
Deposits and prepayments HEDSSENE- T 2,397,997 2,437,674
10,466,461 10,291,944

B A %01,153,009% 0 (ZF — NL9F : 1,289,9137%
L) BETHER S NEBMAEE S REME
Wk BEBHR —F AR eIk ERAER -

All of the trade and other receivables, apart from certain deposits
of HK$1,153,009 (2019: HK$1,289,913) are expected to be
recovered or recognised as expenses within one year.

RIBFRZRES RBEHKRES
FEWGRERIRER DT T -

(@) An ageing analysis of trade receivables as at (a)
the end of the reporting period, based on the
invoice date, is as follows:

2020 —E-FF 2019 ZZ—1F

HK$#B T HK$# 7T

Less than 1 month DR—1E A 3,848,944 3,967,827
More than 1 month but less than 3 months #23i&— & B2 R =18 A 2,949,349 2,362,217
More than 3 months but less than 1 year — HB@E={AABIR—4 197,363 -
6,995,656 6,330,044

ESRWFIBEHER ARBI0KELSK (ZE— N
F : 30KRE45K) NEH - FIBENHIFE30(a) AR E
EMEEBCR °

Trade receivables are generally due within 30 to 45 days (2019: 30
to 45 days) from the date of billing. Further details on the group’s
credit policy are set out in note 30(a).

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

17 Trade and other receivables (continued) 17 EBESRHMEWFIE (&)

(b) The ageing analysis of trade receivables (b) MI|MEHREZERWFIELRZE
that are neither individually nor collectively B2 BERBENRE D0
considered to be impaired as at the end of ™

the reporting period is as follows:

2020 —E -8 F 2019 —Z—NF

HK$#E T HK$787T
Neither past due nor impaired 3 358 B IR AR E 3,312,467 3,115,533
Less than 1 month past due BEA DR —1E A 3,059,085 3,175,404
More than 1 month but less than BHEE—EAELR=1EA
3 months past due 536,406 39,107
More than 3 months but less than 1 BHEB=EAEIRN—F
year past due 87,698 -
Amounts past due Pl 3,683,189 3,214,511
6,995,656 6,330,044
18 Amount due from an associate 18 [EUEt= N THIE
Amount due from an associate is unsecured, interest-free and has PR AN T 2R IE 8 H K BEFERILLEEE
no fixed terms of repayment. FEEBIEE o

19 Financial assets at fair value through profit 19 FEEBEZZAAEEENLSHE

or loss =3
2020 == F 2019 ZZF—F
HK$;§7'E HK$/’§7E
Listed securities — held-for-trading EWES - BEEE
— Equity securities in Hong Kong — BAERES - 85,064
Market value of listed securities EHESNTISERE = 85,064
The fair value of all equity securities is based on their current bid FiBHEEAN DA EAERE S HISHNIR
prices in an active market. LB o
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

20 Cash and bank balances and time deposits 20 BRERBITEKRUREHER

2020 —E-FF 2019 —ZE—h%E

HK$#E T HKS$#E 7T
Cash and bank balances B & MIRTTAES 4,592,770 4,573,976
Time deposits TEHTFER 11,518,641 11,540,203
16,111,411 16,114,179
Less: Pledged bank deposits w EEIRIRITER (11,518,641) (11,540,203)
Cash and cash equivalents BE MBS ZEEY 4,592,770 4,573,976
Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank B E HATE AR IR & 7E A1 = WCER A 240 - $R1TIE KA
deposit rates except for time deposits which earns interest at fixed BIRA BT EIRIEZET BIRTT/ERFARFEmES) o
rate. For the year ended 31 March 2020, time deposits are made HER-_Z-_ZTF=A=+—HLFE  THEX
for terms of one to three months (2019: one to three months). FH—Z==A (—Z—hF: —ZE=@A) 8BF

AEEHREBRNESREME °

Bank deposits of US$1,476,749 (equivalent to HK$11,518,641) /5 801,476,749% T (A8 % 711,518,641 L) (=
(2019: HK$11,540,203) has been pledged to secure banking T— AL 11,540,203 ) EHFHREEAR TR
facilities granted to the group (note 32) during the year. 17 EEERARTZENBARIMNS TIRITHE
(RizE32) -
21 Trade and other payables 21 EZRHMENKIE
2020 —E=FF 2019 ZE—hF
HKS$# T HKS$#E T
Trade payables =0 AN 932,459 311,671
Accrued charges and other payables EstER R EMENZIE 4,285,028 3,212,307
Contract liabilities (note 25(b)) AHBE (Ktzx25(0)) 2,155,324 705,289
7,372,811 4,229,267
All of the trade and other payables are expected to be settled REERE 5 K H e FHRIBTEAR —F ATk
or recognised as income within one year or are repayable on JEESRIEEITER RN °

demand.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) &

Trade and other payables (continued) 21

The ageing analysis of trade payables as at the end of the
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows:

B

SIEn

D%

fre B 5 RaR Y AE

EETF=A=1+—HILFE CABTIIE)

REMmEMNRIE (F)

IR - B A MG EE SRR R

T

2020 —E=-FF 2019 —_F—NF

HK$#E T HK$% 7T
Less than 1 month PR —1E A 341,202 284,169
More than 1 month but less than 3 months #2:8—1& F{E DR =1 A 485,943 11,117
More than 3 months but less than 1 year  #@E={AAEB IR —F 105,314 16,385
932,459 311,671

Lease liabilities 22

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of

the group’s lease liabilities at the end of the current and previous
reporting periods and at the date of transition of HKFRS 16.

31 March 2020
RZB-E=f=1-H
Present value
of the minimum  Total minimum
lease payments  lease payments

HERE

TRINTAEERE R R ERMREARARBES
BEBUBREENE 165 A BNHEERENR TS
HBIERER -

1 April 2019 (Note) 31 March 2019 (Note)
RZT-NEWA-B (KF) RZB-NEZR=1-A (i)
Present value Present value

of the minimum ~ Total minimum ~ of the minimum ~ Total minimum

lease payments

lease payments ~ lease payments  lease payments

BEAE BEAE RERE REHE RERE HERE

BECET i N ERE [y NEEEE s

HKS$% 7T HKS T HK$#& 7T HKS$H&7T HK$HE 7T HK$& T

Within 1 year —ER 1,483,455 1,594,064 2,914,811 3,151,135 749,526 903,492
After 1 year but within 2 years —EEBRRER 657,072 721,140 1,647,001 1,760,994 780,097 879,071
After 2 years but within 5 years MEERTER 953,241 984,750 1,467,333 1,552,487 1,467,333 1,552,481
1,610,313 1,705,890 3,114,334 3,313,481 2,247,430 2,431,558

3,093,768 3,299,954 6,029,145 6,464,616 2,996,956 3,335,050

Less: total future interest expenses & : KIRF SRR (206,186) (435,471) (338,094)
Present value of lease obligations ~ EE ZH(E 3,093,768 6,029,145 2,996,956
Note:  The group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the modified sk : AKREEERLETENEERERBBMER

retrospective approach and adjusted the opening balances at 1
April 2019 to recognise lease liabilities relating to leases which were
previously classified as operating leases under HKAS 17. These liabilities
have been aggregated with the brought forward balances relating to
leases previously classified as finance leases. Comparative information
as at 31 March 2019 has not been restated and relates solely to leases
previously classified as finance leases. Further details on the impact of
the transition to HKFRS 16 are set out in note 3.

SEAF16  THER-_FT—-NFEHA—AK
B RERAERERRBEFT B ERNFE 175D
BAKEHENHEERENEERRE RoF—
NEZA=+T—HHLEBREHNHRES - EHB
BEERBHBRELNEISFNTENE T
FES i EER
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

23 Loans from related parties 23 BEALER
The analysis of the carrying amount of loans from related parties is BEATERRESTEAT :
as follows:

2020 —E-FF 2019 —&— N4

HK$#& T HK$# 7T
Loans from directors of the company RATESHER 4,800,000 5,600,000
Loans from directors of the AN EARESMER
company’s subsidiaries 4,000,000 6,000,000
8,800,000 11,600,000
The loans from related parties bear interest at fixed rate of 5% BEALTERISEER  UFHNXR% (ZF—N
(2019: 8.8%) per annum, are unsecured and are repayable on F 8.8%) FTEUREESRER
demand.
24 Provisions 24 #BfE
Employee Defect liability
benefits period
(Note (a)) (Note (b)) Total
EEEA R E 58
(FHzE(a)) (F=E(b)) &3t
HK$P 7T HK$ETT HK$B T
At 1 April 2018 R-_Z—\FMA—H 346,229 375,747 721,976
Additional provisions recognised (note 6(c)) ZBIMEfEETIE (HiFH6(c)) 129,691 644,817 774,508
Reversal of unused provisions (note 6(c)) REFA B E B (PifaE6(c) (166,387) (476,509) (642,896)
At 31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019 RZE—NE=A=1—H
“T-N§MA—AH 309,533 544,055 853,588
Additional provisions recognised (note 6(c)  ZEsMEEEHE (Fiist6(c)) 53,449 132,185 185,634
Reversal of unused provisions (note 6(c)) RENFA B B (TaE6(c)) (96,759) (513,290) (610,049)
At 31 March 2020 RZB-_TF=F=+—H 266,223 162,950 429,173

@ ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

. = - A==
24 Provisions (continued) 24 #B1& (&)

Notes: B

(@) The provision for employee benefits represents annual leave accrued (a) EBERNBEIEEEFREIHERRARES
compensation and long service leave claims made by employees. HETIR R -

(b) The provision for the defect liability period relates to the estimated (b) REBRBEIEEEE TELPEESZANMEET
cost of work agreed to be carried out for the rectification of smartcard TIRA - HRREPHEEHENUBREZET
systems to certain customers. The amount has not been discounted A HURHETEHRIRE -

for the purpose of measuring the provision for defect liability period
because the effect would not be material.

25 Contract assets and contract liabilities 25 AHEEREHNER
(@) Contract assets (a) BHEE

2020 —E -8 F 2019 —Z—h&E

Noteff{7F HKS$#E 7T HK$Z 7T
Receivables from contracts with RIE BB s £ R 551555
customers within the scope of BER [E 5 REMmERK
HKFRS 15 which are included FIE | ANANFFRER
in “Trade and other receivables” I (H3E17)
(note 17)
— Service contract works — REEAITR 1,013,537 1,476,902
— Retention money receivables — EWRE S (i) 51,225 43,054
1,064,762 1,519,956
Note: P 5E -
(i) Retention money receivables represents receivables for which the (i) FBURRBETIANE BN TR e R IR B B4 R
group’s entitlement to the consideration was conditional on satisfactory B IR I ER X TR IB RO RE R ©

completion of the retention period.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

25 Contract assets and contract liabilities 25 AYBERESNERE (&)

(continued)

(@) Contract assets (continued) (a) BHEE (HE)

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract HERRENEESTEBRZEN — BRI EHED

assets recognised are as follows: I

- Service contract works — BRI & K TH2
The group’s service contract works include payment AEBRBEAENIRBEREANEBE
schedules which require stage payments over the service KAOESEERNFONHBERE (—BHER
contract period once stipulated milestones are reached. ER)  WENHKAREMIEEBRBREREGHE
These payment schedules prevent the build-up of E-RE&E—MEAETEY  LEEEER YV
significant contract assets. A deposit is typically payable EEEHNEE  AEENER FREHM%
up front and this has resulted in a contract liability at early 210% (ZZE—NF : 25%25%) BEH
stages of the project. And the group also typically agrees BESZXE —FHNREH AASEESE
to 1 year retention period for 5% to 10% (2019: 2.5% REKIER NN A S E TR T mARR
to 5%) of the contract value. This amount is included in RERFTAEE BB AGHNEE
contract assets until the end of the retention period as the BEEREBHERAIL -

group’s entitlement to this final payment is conditional on
the group’s work satisfactorily passing inspection.

(b) Contract liabilities (b) BHEE

2020 —E-FF 2019 —T—N%E

HKS$# T HKS$E T
Receipts regarding contracts with customers 1845 %48 871 7% 3 &5 %2 81 55 1558
within the scope of HKFRS 15 which are BIER 85 R H A EMFIE ]
included in “Trade and other payables” A& =P TEKEIE (MisE21)
(note 21)
— Service contract works — IRBEHIRE 1,428,287 40,579
— Deferred maintenance income — RERBWA 727,037 664,710
2,155,324 705,289

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

Contract assets and contract liabilities
(continued)

(b) Contract liabilities (continued)

Note:

Typical payment terms which impact on the amount of contract liabilities

recognised are as follows:
- Service contract works

When the group receives deposits before the service contract work
commences this will give rise to contract liabilities at the start of a
contract, until the revenue recognised on the project exceeds the
amount of the deposits. It is a common practice on each of the group’s

service contracts to require a deposit before work commences.

Movements in contract liabilities

fre B 5 RaR Y AE

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

25 AHEEREGWAE (H)

(b) BHEME (&)
B -

HEERSHEBESBERT BN —REHIT

- RBEAEHTIE
AEEERBA OB TAIKEREE - LBEE
BHNHMELSNAME  EEHAE BANKE

BRReSERL - WBR/ARKEERNRBE K
MEREIED - UEE T ERRSE -

BRBENE

2020 —ZT_FF 2019 —Z—NF

HKS$# T HK$ETT

At 1 April REA—H 705,289 3,509,956
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of FRERE AU (FFAFMEL

recognising revenue during the year that BE) MEENEGNBERD

was included in the contract liabilities at

the beginning of the period (672,627) (3,462,943)
Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of [ ## 3R 4F Rl & i 2= A H FF

recognising revenue during the year that aramERd

incurred during the year (1,916,670) (1,649,164)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of ~ E& 4 TR I M E £

billings in advance of contract works AR EEEN 4,039,332 2,307,440
At 31 March REFR=ar—E 2,155,324 705,289

As at 31 March 2020, the amount of billings in advance of
performance and forward sales deposits and instalments received
to be recognised as income after more than one year was
HK$10,911 (2019: HK$29,847).

RZZBE_TF=A=+—H ' BEI0INMET(ZFT—1L
F 29,8478 L) RETANMNBREREAERE RS
HAif X 8 —F LA T RER U -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

26 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 26 BMEZBMELENEEHIER
financing activities

The table below details changes in the group’s liabilities from RO RFRAEENRBE TR SRENES)
financing activities, including both cash and non-cash changes. BRERERFRAENED - pEFTHEENEER
Liabilities arising from financing activities are liabilities for which BLEENRERECEIRKNBESRERSH
cash flows were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the PRRAREENGEREMNERTHREZHNHR
group’s consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from EmE ¢

financing activities:

Loan from
Lease liabilities related parties
(note 22) (note 23) Total
HESE BEATER
(H=F22) (HzE23) ast
HKS$E T HK$#& T HKS$#& T
At 31 March 2019 R-Z-hE=A=+-H 2,996,956 11,600,000 14,596,956
Impact on initial application of HKFRS 16 #IEHRAEH&:HERE 1657
(see note 3) V2 (RHE3) 3,032,189 - 3,032,189
At 1 April 2019 R-Z-hEMA—A 6,029,145 11,600,000 17,629,145
Changes from financing cash flows: MERSRRE
Repayments BH = (2,800,000) (2,800,000)
Other borrowing costs paid 2 A E SR A - (759,790) (759,790)
Interest element of leases rentals paid ENAERSMNFETE (194,458) - (194,458)
Capital element of lease rentals paid ENEEREMERTE (3,140,452) - (3,140,452)
Total changes from financing cash flows — F&R S REE@E (3.334,910) (3,559,790) (6,894,700)
Other changes: Hit2g) :
New leases (note 13) g (fizk13) 213,869 - 213,869
Decrease in lease liabilities from early FRARREEREENHERERD
termination of lease during the year (8,794) - (8,794)
Change in accrued interest 2FEFIREE) - 95,783 95,783
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) FEXH (P7E6(a) 194,458 664,007 858,465
Total other changes HipZEHasm 399,533 759,790 1,159,323
At 31 March 2020 R-E-ZF=BA=1—H 3,093,768 8,800,000 11,893,768

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

26 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from 26 BEZBFELNEEYER (&)
financing activities (continued)

Loan from
Lease liabilities related parties
(note 22) (note 23) Total
HEARE BEALEX
(PizE22) (Ffi7E23) A&t
HK$ETT HK$ETT HK$7E7T
At 1 April 2018 R=ZF-—N\F=ZA=+—H = = -
Changes from financing cash flows: B&ERSHRKE :
Loans raised BRES - 11,900,000 11,900,000
Repayments B = (300,000) (300,000)
Interest paid BEAFFE (57,368) (106,854) (164,222)
Capital element of finance leases SARMERSEHREMERTE
rental paid (398,959) - (398,959)
Total changes from financing MER SR E AR
cash flows (456,327) 11,493,146 11,036,819
Other changes: Hit @5 :
New finance leases (note 13) FatEmE (Miz13) 3,395,915 - 3,395,915
Change in accrued interest 2R S EE) - (345,837) (345,837)
Interest expenses (note 6(a)) FEZ i (FFE6()) 57,368 452,691 510,059
Total other changes Hibh & Ehaaza 3,453,283 106,854 3,560,137
At 31 March 2019 RZT—-—NF=A=+—H 2,996,956 11,600,000 14,596,956
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

27

28

Employee retirement benefits

The group operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed under the
jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment Ordinance and not
previously covered by the defined benefit retirement plan. The
MPF scheme is a defined contribution retirement plan administered
by independent trustees. Under the MPF scheme, the employer
and its employees are each required to make contributions to the
plan at 5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of
monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the plan
vest immediately.

The subsidiary operating in the PRC is required to participate in
a defined contribution retirement scheme, organised by relevant
government authorities for the staff in the PRC. The subsidiary
is required to make contributions to the retirement scheme at
specified rates of the basic salary of its employees in the PRC.

The group’s retirement scheme contributions charged to profit or
loss for the year were HK$953,840 (2019: HK$537,013).

Share option scheme

The company operates the 2011 Scheme for the purpose of
providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the group’s operations. Eligible
participants of the 2011 Scheme include the company’s directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees of
the group, suppliers of goods or services to the group, customers
of the group, advisers and consultants, etc. The 2011 Scheme
became effective on 8 August 2011 and, unless otherwise
cancelled or amended, will remain in force for 10 years from that
date.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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HEZ-TF=A=+—HILFE NETIE)

ETRKEF

REFZREERGE ARG RBEEERE
BRI RLEERRE MR A RERFBRAEINE
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siES A B AR ERFORNGTE > YARBLETE
SEIE - REBESAHE BEEREEEVARE
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B % £ LR 330,000/ 7T © ATA RS AN T

&l -

AARRFBEHE R RSB REAERE R
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BEARAKTERENL R AEEEATEELIR
FEHI LR

AEBRAFEEFABZORAENFEHETE
953,840 70 (ZZF— N4 : 537,013 7T) °

BRETE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Share option scheme (continued)

The maximum number of shares which may be issued upon
exercise of all outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised
under the 2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme
of the company shall not exceed 30% of the total number of
shares of the company in issue. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options to each eligible participant in the
2011 Scheme and any other share option scheme of the company
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders’ approval in a
general meeting.

Share options granted to directors, chief executives or substantial
shareholders of the company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors. In addition, any share options granted to a substantial
shareholder or an independent non-executive director of the
company, or to any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the
shares of the company in issue at any time or with an aggregate
value (based on the price of the company’s shares at the date of
the grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders’ approval in advance in a general
meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within
21 days from the date of the offer upon payment of a nominal
consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. The exercisable
period of the share options granted is determinable by the
directors, and commences after a certain vesting period and ends
on a date which is not later than 10 years from the date of the
offer of the share options or the expiry date of the 2011 Scheme,
if earlier.

28
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BE_Z-ZF=A=t+—HILFE CAVETIIE)

BRESTE (&)

SEATEEPTA M ARTT AR B X BB AR A e BN i 1T 62 Y
ARRZF——F5t 3 R EAMERET SRR
- EHBTHRMOEE TEBEAERRRNDBETEK
M30% ° WEF+—EAHRA - KRR —_F——F
st R EME BB ET SIS S ABERE R E D
MERNEE B2 LRARRERSHTRMNON
1% ° (B8 H e ER M BERER T - ARBREX
AR

MESE - THAR - ARARRKEEMBHRE
BRE - BAEEKEIIFNTESIAE - 1o &

RABABR - ARBLIFRTESTHHEMEH
PR RfE A - RAER T —EABAZRARK
7 #90.1% 3 K@ E (RIKXEE B AR RO ERE
) BRABEET  ARBRRASEBRAE -

ERTREREEIRREHREHBEREN - T—X
W RBHETHRBAERREXERE - Kih
BERENTEHHRERETE  NEHA—BREBEHR
g TREHREHBEERSTFR  IRE
EFORTE RSB T -
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

28

Share option scheme (continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors, but may not be less than the higher of (i) the closing
price of the company’s shares on the date of the offer of the share
options, (i) the average closing price of the company’s shares for
the five trading days immediately preceding the date of the offer;
and (iii) the nominal value of the share.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or
to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

On 9 July 2015, the company granted share options to certain
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 10,950,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
company, represented approximately 1.18% of all the shares in
issue as at the date of the grant.

On 6 December 2016, the company further granted share options
to certain eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of
14,650,000 ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital
of the company, represented approximately 1.58% of all the
shares in issue as at the date of the grant.

On 3 July 2018, the company had granted share options to certain
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 13,000,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
company, represented approximately 1.40% of all the shares in
issue as at the date of the grant.

On 4 July 2018, the company had granted share options to certain
eligible participants to subscribe for an aggregate of 5,900,000
ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each in the share capital of the
company, represented approximately 0.64% of all the shares in
issue as at the date of the grant.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #HZ=ZF=TF = =+—HI1-FE (JBTIE)

28 Share option scheme (continued) 28 [EERAESHEl (&)
(@) The following table details the company’s (a) FEARB-Z——FFERHNE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme REFEIRNOT !
during the year:
Number of exercisable and outstanding share options
AfTERERTRAERE
Exercise price At1April  Granted during Lapsed during At 31 March
Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2019 the year the year 2020
RIZ-1E RZB2%E
BERE RRH it BRTTEER MA-A R ERRR ZA=t-H
HKS &7
Independent non-executive directors 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 0.154 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
BUFNTES “E-RECANR 7 August 2021
~3—5-FNRZE
“Z--5\AtA
Directors of subsidiaries of the company 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 0.154 3,750,000 = - 3,750,000
FRAMBARNES “E-REtANA 7 August 2021
2 E-RNRZE
“2--%/\AtA
Other employees 9 July 2015 9 January 2016 to 0.154 4,500,000 - (1,250,000) 3,250,000
AftES “Z-15tANA 7 August 2021
2 5-RNRZE
“3--%/\AtA
Executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 0.146 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
HiTES Z3NETZARA 7 August 2021
“Z—t5xAnAZE
“Z--%\AtA
Independent non-executive directors 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 0.146 2,700,000 = - 2,700,000
BUFNTES ZE-R"ETZARA 7 August 2021
2 tE/XAnAZ
“2-—%/\AtA
Directors of subsidiaries of the company 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 0.146 3,350,000 - - 3,350,000
ARANBARNES “ERETZAAA 7 August 2021
2 tEXANAZE
“2--%)\AtA
Other employees 6 December 2016 5 June 2017 to 0.146 3,750,000 - (450,000) 3,300,000
EfbiER ZE-NETZARA 7 August 2021
25/ A0AZE
ZZ-—4¥N\RAtA
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

28 Share option scheme (continued) 28 [BMRAERTE (F)
(@) The following table details the company’s (a) FRARE-Z——FFHERENIE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme IRFEFBHIRNT © (&)

during the year: (continued)

Number of exercisable and outstanding share options

AfTEREATENERE

Exercise price At 1 April  Granted during Lapsed during At 31 March
Participant Date of grant Exercisable period per share 2019 the year the year 2020
RIE-NE R=B=%F
RERE pitilat:i i BRITERER mA-H EREH ERRH =A=t-H
HKS 7
Executive directors 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 0.075 2,700,000 = - 2,700,000
#Es ~F-)\ftA=R 7 August 2021
“Z-\E\A=RZ%
—Z--%)\AtA
Independent non-executive directors 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 0.075 2,700,000 - - 2,700,000
BUNTES —F-\¥tA=A 7 August 2021
“E-\§/\A=RZE
“Z--%/\AtA
Directors of subsidiaries of the company 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 0.075 4,600,000 - - 4,600,000
ARANBARMES “2-)\#tA=H 7 August 2021
“5-\§/\A=RZE
“Z--£)\RtA
Other employees 3 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 0.075 3,000,000 = (450,000) 2,550,000
HibfER “E-\ELEZA 7 August 2021
“Z-)\E\A=A%
—Z--%)\AtA
Directors of subsidiaries of the company 4 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 0.075 2,200,000 - - 2,200,000
ANANBAANES —3-\§tAmA 7 August 2021
—E-\§/\A=RZE
“Z--%/\AtA
Other employees 4 July 2018 3 August 2018 to 0.075 3,300,000 - (900,000) 2,400,000
EfbEg ~Z-)\§tAmA 7 August 2021
“5-\§/\A=RZE
“E2-%\AtA
Total &3 41,950,000 - (3,050,000) 38,900,000
Weighted average exercise price (HK$)

mEHATRER (B7) 0.12

@ ITE (Holdings) Limited



28 Share option scheme (continued) 28 [EERAESHEl (&)
(@) The following table details the company’s (a) FEARB-Z——FFERHNE
share options in issue under the 2011 Scheme REFBEIRNOT : (&)
during the year: (continued)
During the year ended 31 March 2020, total of 3,050,000 n= THE=A=+—H " A& 3,050,000 (=
(2019: 900,000) share options, were lapsed due to resignation of T— h¢ 900,000) f& A% 4 X 16 FE & 8 B B ifn 25
relevant employee. No share options were exercised by the eligible H-BE_T TR -NF=ZA=1+—HIEF
participants during the years ended 31 March 2020 and 2019. B BEREWRBITEEMEBRME -
(b)  Fair value of options and assumption (b) BRENAIALERER
The fair value of services received in return for share options REBEURLEREMESHRENARBERER
granted is measured by reference to the fair value of share options BRENAREFE  BRBRENGSAAER
granted. The estimate of the fair value of the share options —HEAEAGE BRENSVORARTEXZ -]
granted is measured based on a binominal model. The contractual BAZE - HHRESETEN2 80 A ZEHAER
life of the share options is used as an input into this model. B
Expectations of early exercise are incorporated into the binomial
model.
The inputs into the model were as follows: BREARENT :
6 December

Date of grant B A 9 July 2015 2016 3 July 2018 4 July 2018

—E-hF TEREF —T-N\F —E-)N\F

t AR +=A/xH +tH=H +tHAMA
Total number of share options fEl LAy 10,950,000 14,650,000 13,000,000 5,900,000
Share price of the company BHEAARTRE  HK$0.1528TT HK$0.146/87T HK$0.07587C HK$0.0758 7T
at the date of grant

Exercise price per share BRATHEER HK$0.154%7C HK$0.146/87C HK$0.075487C HK$0.075/47T
Expected volatility T8 B R R 91% 76% 70% 70%
Option life B AR F BR 6.08 years®  4.67 yearst 3.1 yearstF 3.1 yearstF
Expected dividend yield BHEARR B EE Nilf% Nilf& Nl Nilf&
Risk-free interest rate JEURR 7 = 1.26% 1.18% 1.98% 1.94%

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

fre B 5 RaR Y AE

BE_Z-ZF=A=t+—HILFE CAVETIIE)

The expected volatility is based on the historic volatility of the TEEDR 18 DR B AN A AR (B A 2R IE - WRRR
company’s share price and it is assumed there is no material IR EF RIS B EREE) o

change over the whole life of share options.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

28 Share option scheme (continued) 28 [BMRAERTE (F)
(b) Fair value of options and assumption (b) BREMNAABRER (B)

(continued)

The total fair value of the share options granted during the year RZZ-AF=A=+—BFE  LAFKR0.03%&
ended 31 March 2019 was approximately HK$567,000 with fair THAREHNE  BHBERENAABLELNR
value of HK$0.03 for each option. The group has recognised 567,000 7T - AEBER_ZE—NF=A=+—
equity-settled share-based payments of HK$567,000 arising from H & E A TER567,000/8 T H R E 4 E AR A E
options vested during the year ended 31 March 2019. BEAIR ©
29 Capital and reserves 29 EBEXRK#E
(@) Share capital (@) BE=
Authorised and issued share capital ETE R B BEITIRAR
2020 —E=EF 2019 =T —H%F
Number of Number of
shares HK$ shares HK$
R EE BT RAEE BT
Authorised: EERA
Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each FAXEE0.01/8 TR AR 2,000,000,000 20,000,000 2,000,000,000 20,000,000

Ordinary share, issued and fully paid: B &/TR&BRAL B :

At 1 April and at 31 March RWA—HR=A=+—H 925,508,000 9,255,080 925,508,000 9,255,080
The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as ETREFEAGRTKRBAEIRNRS - L HH#E
declared from time to time and are entitled to one vote per share RAEE S LR —FRERR - IR EAR
at meetings of the company. All ordinary shares rank equally with RSB EES ARSI -

regard to the company’s residual assets.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Capital and reserves (continued)
(b)  Nature and purpose of reserves
(i) Share premium

The application of the share premium account is governed by the
company’s Articles of Association and the Companies Law of the
Cayman Islands, which provides that the share premium account
may be applied in making distributions or paying dividends to
members, provided that immediately following the date on which
distribution or dividend is proposed to be paid, the company will
be able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business. The share premium may also be distributed in the form
of fully paid bonus shares.

(ii) Merger reserve

The group’s merger reserve represents the excess of the aggregate
of the nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation completed on 18
November 2000 on the nominal value of the share capital of the
company issued in exchange therefor.

(iii) Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all foreign exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations. The reserve is dealt with in accordance with the
accounting policies set out in note 2(s).

(iv) Share option reserve

This reserve represents the fair value of the actual or estimated
number of unexercised share options granted to eligible persons,
including any director, employee, consultant or advisor of the
company and its subsidiaries or any associate of the company,
recognised in accordance with the accounting policies in note 2(v)

(iii).

29
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

HEZ-TF=A=+—HILFE NETIE)

BEXKf#E ()

29 Capital and reserves (continued) 29

() Distributability of reserves

At 31 March 2020 and 2019, none of the reserves of the company
is available for distribution to owners of the company, except for
the reserve as stated in note 29(b)(i).

(d) Capital management

The group’s primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeguard the group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for owners and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and services
commensurately with the level of risk and by securing access to
finance at a reasonable cost.

The group actively and regularly reviews and manages its capital
structure to maintain a balance between the higher owner returns
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital
position, and makes adjustments to the capital structure in light of
changes in economic conditions.

The group monitors its capital structure on the basis of a net
debt-to-adjusted capital ratio. For this purpose, the group defines
net debt as total debt (which includes loans from related parties,
lease liabilities and trade and other payables) plus unaccrued
proposed dividends, less cash and cash equivalents and pledged
deposits. Adjusted capital comprises all components of equity less
unaccrued proposed dividends.

During the year, the group’s strategy, which was unchanged from
2019, was to maintain the net debt-to-adjusted capital ratio below
50%. In order to maintain or adjust the ratio, the group may
adjust the amount of dividends to be paid to owners, issue new
shares, return capital to owners, raise new debt financing or sell
assets to reduce debt.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial risk management and fair values

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks arises
in the normal course of the group’s business. These risks are
limited by the group’s financial management policies and practices
described below.

(@) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that a counterparty will default on its
contractual obligations resulting in a financial loss to the group.
The group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at banks,
trade receivables and contract assets. The group’s exposure to
credit risk arising from cash and cash equivalents is limited because
the counterparties are banks of good credit-rating for which the
group considers to have low credit risk.

Trade receivables and contract assets

The group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the
individual characteristics of each customer rather than the
industry or country in which the customers operate and therefore
significant concentrations of credit risk primarily arise when the
group has significant exposure to individual customers. At the
end of the reporting period, 57% (2019: 59%) and 84% (2019:
90%) of the total trade receivables and contract assets was due
from the group’s largest customer and the five largest customers
respectively.

Individual credit evaluations are performed on all customers
requiring credit over a certain amount. These evaluations focus on
the customer’s past history of making payments when due and
current ability to pay, and take into account information specific to
the customer as well as pertaining to the economic environment
in which the customer operates. Trade receivables are generally
due within 30 to 45 days from the date of billing. Negotiated on
a case-by-case basis, the credit terms granted to certain customers
could be up to three months. Normally, the group does not obtain
collateral from customers.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

30

Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

(@) Credit risk (continued)
Trade receivables and contract assets (continued)

The group measures loss allowances for trade receivables and
contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs, which is
calculated using a provision matrix. As the group’s historical
credit loss experience does not indicate significantly different
loss patterns for different customer segments, the loss allowance
based on past due status is not further distinguished between the
group’s different customer bases.

The directors of the company have considered the credit risk of
trade receivables and contract assets and note that there was no
actual loss nor significant past due experience over the past 5
years, including periods of unfavourable economic conditions. The
directors consider the aggregate risks arising from the possibility
of credit loss on trade receivables and contract assets are not
significant and no allowance for credit losses were made as at 31
March 2020 and 2019.

(b)  Liquidity risk

The group’s policy is to maintain sufficient cash and cash
equivalents or have available funding through an adequate
amount of committed annual credit facilities from banks to meet
its commitments over the next year in accordance with its strategic
plan. In the opinion of the directors of the company, the group
expects to have adequate sources of funding to finance the group
and manage the liquidity position.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Financial risk management and fair values

(continued)

(b) Liquidity risk (continued)

The maturity profile of the group’s financial liabilities as at the end

R
HE—

B PR At

ZZFE=PF=+—HILFE CABTIIE)

30 SRIEREERAAE (B)

(b)

ESRBHERR (&)

RBEHR - AEEHEAHESBMEENARITARR

of the reporting period, based on the contractual undiscounted SR
cash flows was as follows:
2020 —F-FF
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted 1 year or less than less than
amount cash outflows on demand 2 years 5 years
BRRITR R—FRAR ZR—F@E ZRMEE
BREE ReRmib EEREE MEREE IFAEE
HK$# T HK$# T HK$# T HK$#E T HK$3 7t
Trade and other payables 25 REMEMNTIA
— Trade payables — ENE SR 932,459 932,459 932,459 - -
— Accrued charges and —ENEBRR
other payables it NFA 4,285,028 4,285,028 4,285,028 - -
Loan from related parties MEATER 8,800,000 8,800,000 8,800,000 - -
Lease liabilities HEEE 3,093,768 3,299,954 1,594,064 721,140 984,750
17,111,255 17,317,441 15,611,551 721,140 984,750
2019 2 NE
Total More than More than
contractual Within 1 year but 2 years but
Carrying  undiscounted 1 year or less than less than
amount  cash outflows on demand 2 years 5 years
BRIARITER R—FA%K ZR—FE ZIMF(E
fREE Bemt [EERERE MENEE TFERNEER
HK$B T HK$& T HK$ 7T HK$S 7T HK$ % T
Trade and other payables B 5 R EMERTFRIE
— Trade payables — ERNE 5508 311,671 311,671 311,671 - -
— Accrued charges and -ERERR
other payables H TSR 3,212,307 3,212,307 3,212,307 - -
Loan from related parties B AR 11,600,000 11,600,000 11,600,000 = =
Lease liabilities HEAR 2,996,956 3,335,050 903,492 879,071 1,552,487
18,120,934 18,459,028 16,027,470 879,071 1,552,487
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

30

Financial risk management and fair values
(continued)

(c) Interest rate risk

The group’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its loans payable
and lease liabilities, which are at fixed rate, expose the group to
fair value interest risk. The group does not use financial derivatives
to hedge against the interest rate risk.

The group’s significant interest-bearing assets are bank deposits.
The group’s interest income is dependent on changes in market
interest rates and will not have significant adverse impact on the
group’s financial position.

A reasonably possible change of 100 basis points in interest
rates would have no significant impact on the group’s financial
performance and equity for both current and prior year.

(d)  Currency risk

The group is not exposed to significant foreign currency risk as
most of income and expenses giving rise to receivables, payables
and bank balances that are denominated in the functional

currency of the entities within the group.

(e) Categories of financial instruments

30
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(d) ERER
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BN SR (B30 S AR AT (AT BRI NE R

(e) EWMIAMNES

2020 —E-BF 2019 ZF—N4F
HKS$E T HK$BIT
Financial assets SRIEE
Financial assets at amortised cost B AN SR EE 26,204,705 25,196,697
Fair value through profit or loss ERBEEARE
(held for trading) (FHEER) = 85,064
Financial liabilities SEesE
Financial liabilities at amortised cost B AN S B E 17,111,255 18,120,934

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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Financial risk management and fair values 30 SREREERQAE (E)
(continued)
(f)  Fair values fh 2n/E
All financial instruments are carried at cost not materially different FESRMITAMNARKARERN T TR -_T—
from their fair values as at 31 March 2020 and 2019. NEF=ZA=T—HBHARABESTATH -
The carrying value of financial assets at fair value through profit FRBREAANENEREEROAERS — Rt
or loss are measured at fair value which is included in a category 2 REFEMBHRELENE 135 - HEAERS
of level 1, using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for BMITERNERMS CREFAE) BRE -
identical financial instruments, as defined under HKFRS 13.
Operating lease commitments 31 REBEERE
At 31 March 2019, the total future minimum lease payments —NF=R=+—8 ~"EERBEE@EMWE
under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows: B A el g 2 E B B &N B RIEHEER
HATR :
HK$# 7T
Within 1 year —ER 2,165,796
After 1 year but within 5 years —FHRAFA 873,316
3,039,112
The group is the lessee in respect of a number of properties held MARBERS ST ENFE 17 EAKEHE
under leases which were previously classified as operating leases ETWEMS  KEBAABA - KEBBFHALK
under HKAS 17. The group has initially applied HKFRS 16 using the 1BRTR AR ER BBV REER L1655 < 1R
modified retrospective approach. Under this approach, the group Bz %E  AEB#ABRN T - NFOA—BMNEH
adjusted the opening balances at 1 April 2019 to recognise lease Vg UHEREZSHESENEEAE (B
liabilities relating to these leases (see note 3). Form 1 April 2019 F3) c BEZE—NFUA—BH#E  RKRBEEL HE
onwards, future lease payments are recognised as lease liabilities REMREAE  BREMF20Q)MFANKRERES M
in the consolidated statement of financial position in accordance BARRARAER - AEBEABAAREE L HAOFHA
with the policies set out in note 2(g), and the details regarding the 25 EE22 ©
group’s future lease payments are disclosed in note 22.
Banking facility 32 SRITWME
At 31 March 2020, the time deposits of US$1,476,749 (equivalent RZTZTF=A=+—H ' 1,476,749% T (B%
to HK$11,518,641) (2019: HK$11,540,203) (note 20) have been 15011 518,641 7T) (= & — /L4 : 11,540,203%

pledged as securities for banking facilities granted to the group on
the performance guarantee in respect of one of the projects of the

group.

7o) (MiEE20) FEEAfF s T 3R 1T
EETHENGERE -

ERERAE
HEBBTK °
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars) #Z=Z=Z&=A=+—HI-FE (LETIIE)

33 Material related party transactions and 33 EABEEALRS

balances

(@) Key management personnel remuneration (a) EREEAEHMS

Remuneration for key management personnel of the group, AATEAREBEAEMEREINAAAREEEE
represents amounts paid to the company’s directors as disclosed in RIS FESHE 77 ©

note 8.

(b)  Other related party transactions (b) HMWEAEALRS

The group entered into the following material related party FAR - AEEFTIATHERFEALTRS :

transactions during the year:

2020 —E-FF 2019 —ZE—h%E

HK$#E 7T HK$/&7T
Management service income from an associate B A 78 & I RS U A 480,000 -
Interest income from an associate /N ORISR N - 1,753
Interest expenses on loans from related parties B A &m0 F S5 H
— directors of the company —ARRREFE 326,570 230,376
— directors of the company’s subsidiaries —ARRNBRARES 337,437 222,315

() Details of balances with related parties are () PFEXRZHNEHRFMARES VBN
disclosed in the consolidated statement of MERMIEE 18K 231K E -

financial position and in notes 18 and 23.

@ ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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34 Subsidiaries’ information

3 HEBARER

At 31 March 2020 and 2019, particulars of the group’s principal

subsidiaries are as follows:

AT RAREER=

—EREB-NF=EA=+—

H E’UIEM\T%AETE?I% :

Place of Particulars of
incorporation/ Percentage of issued and
Name of company establishment ownership interest paid up capital  Principal activities
BETR
ARER Tt R Pt RN E A BRBRAHFE EEEK
Indirect
&
2020 2019
B2 CTNF
ITE Smartcard Solutions Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 3,418,336 shares  Provision of solutions and services for
BEZHARA B of HK$1 each smartcity and smartcard
3418336l  AREEMMME R SREBRTEN
(BREE1T) 7%
RF Tech Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares  Manufacture and research of
A& of HK$1 each smartcard system and service
28% related products
(BREEIT)  AFERRRBERZGABER
ITE Engineering Limited Hong Kong 100% 100% 2 shares  Provision of solutions and services for
BB of HK$1 each energy and sustainability
% REERAAREILER S RARY
(BEmEET)
ITE Sistema (Macau) Limitada Macao 100% 100% Macao Patacas  Provision of solutions and services for
BEZGE (RF) ARAR i (“MOP") 25,000 smartcity and smartcard

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the group which, in

the opinion of the directors, principally affected the financial

performance for the year or formed a substantial portion of the

net assets of the group. To give details of other subsidiaries would,

in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive

length.

25,0008

ERITFEEZRREIBREAEEAFE

AESHAE
o

AR I

IFRE

ARAEEFEETZAXBNONBRR - ES

RANEEMHE A RNFEHEERREERNIT
£ o
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
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35 Financial information of the company 35 ARATFMNHBEER
(@) Statement of financial position (a) BB MRRE
2020 —E=EF 2019 —=— N5
HK$#E 7T HK$#& 7T
Non-current assets FREEE
Investment in a subsidiary R B A RRIKRE 4,000,000 4,000,000
Current assets REEE
Deposits and prepayments e RkBEMEA 211,092 207,415
Cash and cash equivalents HeRI\ESEEY 311,556 274,358
522,648 481,773
Current liabilities REEE
Accrued charges and other payables FEstE R R HE M E R IE 383,002 360,202
Net current assets mENEEFE 139,646 121,571
Net assets EEFHE 4,139,646 4,121,571
Capital and reserves EARRK G
Share capital &R 9,255,080 9,255,080
Reserves (note 35(b)) & (FisE35(0)) (5,115,434) (5,133,509)
Total equity AREn 4,139,646 4,121,571
(b) Details of changes in the company’s individual (b) FARAARQATBEHERASKEDN
components of reserves during the year: T
Share  Share option  Accumulated
premium reserve losses Total
B4 EE BRERE E-Y | a5t
HK$ETT HK$E T HK$#TT HK$ETT
At 1 April 2018 RZZ—\FNA—H 20,239,745 2,069,300 (25,678,688) (3,369,643)
Loss and total comprehensive FABERZAS LR
expense for the year - - (2,330,866) (2,330,866)
Equity-settled share-based payments PRt & AR 19 A RN 7R
(note 28(b)) (FHzE28(b)) - 567,000 - 567,000
Lapse of share options (note 28(a)) RBERE (FHEE28(a)) - (52,000) 52,000 -
At31 March 2019 and 1 April 2019  RZZE—AF=F=1+—H
kZZ-NEFMA—R 20,239,745 2,584,300  (27,957,554) (5,133,509)
Profit and total comprehensive EREF R EERAESE
income for the year - - 18,075 18,075
Lapse of share options (note 28(a)) RERE (FHEE28(a)) - (194,000) 194,000 -
At 31 March 2020 RN—E-TF=F=1+—H 20,239,745 2,390,300 (27,745,479) (5,115,434)

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Accounting estimates and judgements

The management had made the following estimates and
assumptions in the process of applying the group’s accounting
policies, which are described in note 2, that have a significant risk
of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets
and liabilities as discussed below.

(@) Revenue and profit recognition

As explained in policy note 2(u), revenue from service contracts
are recognised over time. The revenue and profit recognition
on uncompleted projects is dependent on estimating the total
outcome of the contract, as well as the work done to date. Based
on the group’s recent experience and the nature of the service
activities undertaken by the group, the group has made estimates
of the point at which it considered the work was sufficiently
advanced such that the outcome of the contract can be reasonably
measured. Until this point is reached the related contract assets
disclosed in note 25(a) do not include profit which the group
might eventually realise from the work done to date. In addition,
actual outcomes in terms of total cost or revenue may be higher
or lower than estimated at the end of the reporting period, which
would affect the revenue and profit recognised in future years as
an adjustment to the amounts recorded to date.

(b) Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation

The group determines the estimated useful lives and related
depreciation charges for the group’s property, plant and
equipment. This estimate is based on the historical experience
of the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of a
similar nature and function.

()  Provision for expected credit losses of trade
receivables and contract assets

The group uses a provision of matrix to calculate ECLs for
trade receivables and contract assets. The provision rates are
based on days past due for groupings of various debtors that
have similar loss patterns. The provision matrix is based on
management’s estimate of the lifetime expected credit losses
to be incurred, which is estimated by taking into account the
credit loss experience, ageing of overdue trade receivables,
customers’ repayment history and customers’ financial position
and an assessment of both the current and forecast general
economic conditions, all of which involve a significant degree of
management judgement.
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For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Accounting estimates and judgements
(continued)

()  Provision for expected credit losses of trade
receivables and contract assets (continued)

The provision of ECLs is sensitive to changes in circumstances
and involves the forecast of general economic conditions. The
information about the ECLs and the group’s trade receivables and
contract assets are disclosed in notes 17 and 25(a) respectively. If
the financial condition of the customers or the forecast economic
conditions were to deteriorate, actual loss allowance would be
higher than estimated.

(d) Write-down of inventories

Write-down of inventories is made based on the ageing and
estimated net realisable value of inventories. The assessment of the
write-down amount involves judgement and estimates. Where the
actual outcome in future is different from the original estimate,
such difference will impact the carrying value of inventories and
the write-down amount charge/reverse in the period in which such
estimate has been changed.

(e) Deferred tax

Estimating the amount for deferred tax assets arising from tax
losses requires a process that involves forecasting future years’
taxable income and assessing the group’s ability to utilise tax
benefits through future earnings. Where the actual future profits
generated are more or less than expected, a recognition or reversal
of the deferred tax assets may arise, which would be recognised
in profit or loss for the period in which such a recognition or
reversal takes place. While the current operations indicate that the
unused tax losses cannot be utilised in the future, any changes
in assumptions, estimates and tax regulations can affect the
recoverability of this unrecognised deferred tax asset.

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31 March 2020 (Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

Possible impact of new and revised
standards and interpretations issued but
not yet effective for the year ended 31
March 2020

Up to the date of issue of these consolidated financial statements,
the HKICPA has issued a number of amendments, new standards
and interpretations which are not yet effective for the year
ended 31 March 2020 and which have not been adopted in the
consolidated financial statements.

These include the followings which may be relevant to the group:
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BE-_Z-_TF=-A=1t—-HL
FECHEMERERMNIERT - #
ZARZREBNEESE

BENSRAMBHRRTIEZR  HESFMAE
ERMZIRER]  HERRRE - BREE_Z
TE=ZA=1T—HUEFEMRER HW%BAPA
BATSERR IR -

VAT 75 RJ RE BN £ (B A A O 16T

Effective for accounting
periods beginning on or after
ET5E#SR 2%

Rl E st AN

Amendments to HKFRS 3, Definition of a business

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8, Definition of material %

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7,
Interest rate benchmark reform

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28, Sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture

The group is in the process of making an assessment of what the
impact of these developments is expected to be in the period of
initial application. So far it has concluded that the adoption of
them is unlikely to have a significant impact on the consolidated
financial statements.

Comparative figures

The group has initially applied HKFRS 16 at 1 April 2019 using
the modified retrospective approach. Under this approach,
comparative information is not restated. Further details of the
changes in accounting policies are disclosed in note 3.
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Five Year Summary

hFHE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(PAETLHIE)

2020/19 2019/18 2018/17 2017/16 2016/15
“E-NBEZBE —T)\ENF _EtE\F —EEtF —T-REIF
HKSE T HK$ BT HK$ BT HK$ BT HK$ BT
Results ¥
Revenue Yezs 44,345,206 24,791,363 25,435,931 22,348,653 24,169,306
Profit/(loss) from operations &R/ (E1) 1,023,284 (3,455,685) 1,302,715 382,539 329,315
Profit/(loss) before taxation BREATES /(F18) 1,023,284 (3,455,685) 1,302,715 382,539 329,315
Income tax credit FiiEHiE e - - 19,139 - -
Profit/(loss) for the year AAREBAFA
attributable to owners of EEENER
the company (B#) 1,023,284 (3,455,685) 1,321,854 382,539 329,315
Assets and liabilities BERERE
Non-current assets EmEEE 3,826,567 3,716,138 199,680 488,312 125,113
Net current assets TEAESE 10,731,001 10,455,263 14,612,976 12,654,748 12,217,670
Non-current liabilities FREEE (1,610,313) (2,247,430 - - -
Net assets AEFE 12,947,255 11,923,971 14,812,656 13,143,060 12,342,783
Earnings/(loss) per share SREH /(F8)
Basic (HK cents) EA (L) 0.11 (0.37) 0.14 0.04 0.04
Diluted (HK cents) g (L) 0.11 (0.37) 0.14 0.04 0.04

ITE (Holdings) Limited
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Corporate Information

TEER

Registered Office
Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive

P.O. Box 2681

Grand Cayman KY1-1111
Cayman Islands

Head Office and Principal Place of Business
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Hong Kong
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Cayman Islands
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Hong Kong
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